

### Terms and Conditions of Use of Digitised Theses from Trinity College Library Dublin

### **Copyright statement**

All material supplied by Trinity College Library is protected by copyright (under the Copyright and Related Rights Act, 2000 as amended) and other relevant Intellectual Property Rights. By accessing and using a Digitised Thesis from Trinity College Library you acknowledge that all Intellectual Property Rights in any Works supplied are the sole and exclusive property of the copyright and/or other IPR holder. Specific copyright holders may not be explicitly identified. Use of materials from other sources within a thesis should not be construed as a claim over them.

A non-exclusive, non-transferable licence is hereby granted to those using or reproducing, in whole or in part, the material for valid purposes, providing the copyright owners are acknowledged using the normal conventions. Where specific permission to use material is required, this is identified and such permission must be sought from the copyright holder or agency cited.

### Liability statement

By using a Digitised Thesis, I accept that Trinity College Dublin bears no legal responsibility for the accuracy, legality or comprehensiveness of materials contained within the thesis, and that Trinity College Dublin accepts no liability for indirect, consequential, or incidental, damages or losses arising from use of the thesis for whatever reason. Information located in a thesis may be subject to specific use constraints, details of which may not be explicitly described. It is the responsibility of potential and actual users to be aware of such constraints and to abide by them. By making use of material from a digitised thesis, you accept these copyright and disclaimer provisions. Where it is brought to the attention of Trinity College Library that there may be a breach of copyright or other restraint, it is the policy to withdraw or take down access to a thesis while the issue is being resolved.

### Access Agreement

By using a Digitised Thesis from Trinity College Library you are bound by the following Terms & Conditions. Please read them carefully.

I have read and I understand the following statement: All material supplied via a Digitised Thesis from Trinity College Library is protected by copyright and other intellectual property rights, and duplication or sale of all or part of any of a thesis is not permitted, except that material may be duplicated by you for your research use or for educational purposes in electronic or print form providing the copyright owners are acknowledged using the normal conventions. You must obtain permission for any other use. Electronic or print copies may not be offered, whether for sale or otherwise to anyone. This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

# MULTIDIMENSIONAL SECOND ORDER GENERALISED STOCHASTIC PROCESSES ON LOCALLY COMPACT ABELIAN GROUPS

By

Bernard Keville

SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY AT THE UNIVERSITY OF DUBLIN DUBLIN, IRELAND

OCTOBER 2003

TRINITY COLLEGE 140CT 2004 LIBRARY DUBLIN THOSIS 7418

This thesis has not been submitted as an exercise for a degree at this or any other University.

This thesis is entirely my own work, except where indicated in the text.

The Library may lend or copy this thesis upon request.

Bernard Keville

To My Parents

# Table of Contents

Table of Contents						
Acknowledgements						
Summary						
1	the Bochner-Schwartz-Godemont Theorem	1				
	1.1	Introd	luction and general concepts	1		
		1.1.1	Measure and integration on locally compact Abelian groups .	2		
		1.1.2	The Fourier transform	3		
	1.2	Banac	h Gelfand triples	6		
		1.2.1	Basic notions	6		
		1.2.2	Kernels and operators	7		
		1.2.3	Banach Gelfand triples and reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces	9		
		1.2.4	The convex cone $Hilb(B')$	12		
		1.2.5	Direct integrals in $Hilb(B')$			
			over locally compact Abelian groups	13		
	1.3 The Schwartz-Bruhat space					
and tempered distributions on $G$			empered distributions on $G$	15		
	1.4	The F	eichtinger algebra $S_0(G)$			
		and a	pplications	16		
		1.4.1	Quasimeasures	16		
		1.4.2	Bounded uniform partitions of unity in $A(G)$	18		
		1.4.3	Wiener amalgam spaces of quasimeasures	18		
		1.4.4	Segal algebras	20		
		1.4.5	The Feichtinger algebra	20		
		1.4.6	The Wiener algebra	21		
			<b>3</b>			

iv

		1.4.7 The extended Fourier transform	
		and the Plancherel theorem	21
		1.4.8 Positivity, distributions of positive type	
		and the Bochner theorem	22
		1.4.9 Sets of spectral synthesis for $S_0(G)$	24
		1.4.10 Periodisation and restriction	26
		1.4.11 Wiener amalgams and kernels	29
		1.4.12 Bimeasures	30
		1.4.13 Fourier multipliers	31
		1.4.14 Translation-invariant Hilbert Subspaces of $S'_{0}(G)$	
		and the Bochner-Schwartz-Godement Theorem	32
2	Sec	ond Order Generalised Stochastic Processes on Locally Compact	t
	Abe	elian Groups	36
	2.1	Introduction and general concepts	36
		2.1.1 Second order stochastic processes	38
		2.1.2 Stochastic measures	39
		2.1.3 Stationary second order stochastic processes	39
		2.1.4 Harmonisable and V-bounded stochastic processes	40
	2.2	Second order generalised stochastic processes	42
	2.3	The spectral process	44
	2.4	Stationary second order generalised stochastic processes and the spec-	
		tral representation theorem	45
	2.5	White noise	51
	2.6	Harmonisable and V-bounded	
		generalised stochastic processes	52
	2.7	Filtered generalised stochastic processes	57
3	Mu	ltidimensional Second Order Generalised Stochastic Processes on	ı
	Loc	ally Compact Abelian Groups	60
	3.1	Introduction	60
	3.2	Normal Hilbert $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -Modules	61
	3.3	Multidimensional second order	
		stochastic processes	63
	3.4	Multidimensional second order	
		generalised stochastic processes	66
	3.5	Reproducing kernel Hilbert $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -modules	69
	3.6	Operator valued Fourier transform	
		and the Bochner theorem	71

v

	3.7	Stationary multidimensional second order		
		generalised stochastic processes	81	
	3.8	Multidimensional stationary stochastic		
		processes and multidimensional stationary		
		generalised stochastic processes	85	
	3.9	Harmonisable multidimensional second order generalised stochastic pro-		
		cesses	87	
	3.10	Harmonisable multidimensional stochastic		
		processes and harmonisable multidimensional		
		generalised stochastic processes	88	
D;	Pibliography			
DI	Biolography			

# Acknowledgements

At the end of a long road, it gives me great pleasure to acknowledge the kindness of some of the many good Samaritans encountered on the way.

I wish to thank Dr. Richard Timoney of the School of Mathematics, Trinity College Dublin for his very considerate supervision and his careful reading of this thesis.

Most of this work was conceived during the academic year 2001-2002, which I had the privilege of spending as a guest of the Numerical Harmonic Analysis Group (NuHAG) in the Department of Mathematics at the University of Vienna. I would like to thank Monika Dörfler, Norbert Kaiblinger, Josef Mattes, Charly Gröchenig, Tobias Werther and all the members of the extended NuHAG family for their unstinting hospitality and friendship. In particular, I would like to pay tribute to the founder and director of the group, one of nature's true gentlemen, Professor Hans Georg Feichtinger, whose extraordinary personal and mathematical generosity is an example to us all. My stay in Vienna was made possible by the Östereichischer Austauschdienst (ÖAD) and I would like to express my appreciation to Doris Zwettler and her colleagues in the ÖAD for the great hospitality and the many Ausflüge I enjoyed during a very enriching stay in Vienna.

I would like to thank Ole Christensen, Torben Klint Jensen, Thomas Poulsen and their colleagues at the Technical University of Denmark, Lyngby for the overwhelming Danish hospitality experienced during a fondly remembered summer school in 2001.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents who have stood by me through thick and thin and to whom I dedicate this thesis.

# Summary

This thesis is concerned with the harmonic analysis of multidimensional generalised stochastic processes on locally compact Abelian groups. A multidimensional generalised stochastic process is a continuous linear operator from a test function space into a space of  $\mathcal{H}$ -valued random variables, where  $\mathcal{H}$  is a separable Hilbert space. The remarkable properties and very simple structure of the Feichtinger algebra  $S_0(G)$  make it very suitable as a test function space in this respect. Classical representation theorems for stationary and harmonisable processes on locally compact Abelian groups which have been extended to infinite dimensions can be proved in in much more compact way, avoiding much of the technical machinery associated with operator valued integration and the theory of operator valued bimeasures.

Chapter 1 considers the Feichtinger algebra and its applications in abstract harmonic analysis. In particular, Bochner's theorem is extended to the dual space  $S_0(G)'$ and a representation theorem is proved which is an essential prerequisite for the proof of the spectral representation theorem for stationary generalised stochastic processes.

Chapter 2 uses the results of chapter 1 to treat the harmonic analysis of scalar valued generalised stochastic processes, extending some of the classical results for stochastic processes, whose proof then is much simpler than heretofore, avoiding the technicalities associated to the theory of integration.

Chapter 3 is concerned with the abstract harmonic analysis of infinite dimensional stochastic processes. Again, in this setting, the properties of  $S_0(G)$  prove to be very useful in deriving concise and elementary proofs of some of the results obtained by Kakihara in his monograph.

viii

# Chapter 1

# $S_0(G)$ and the Bochner-Schwartz-Godemont Theorem

## 1.1 Introduction and general concepts

The Feichtinger algebra  $S_0(G)$  has many remarkable properties, which, allied to its simple structure and the fact that its dual space is a space of tempered distributions which contains many of the classical spaces of interest in abstract harmonic analysis, make it very suitable as a space of test functions on locally compact Abelian groups. The formation of tensor products facilitates the harmonic analysis of vectorvalued structures; in particular, the projective tensor product of  $S_0(G)$  with a suitable Hilbert space of random variables yields a test space of second order stochastic processes. Central to the analysis of stationary second order stochastic processes are various interrelated notions in harmonic analysis such as positive-definiteness, the Bochner theorem, translation-invariant Hilbert spaces, unitary representations etc. We will show how the algebra  $S_0(G)$  can be used to prove and extend the results necessary for later analysis of second order stochastic processes. In particular, the Bochner theorem is extended to a space of unbounded measures and a closely related representation theorem for diagonally-invariant translation-bounded quasimeasures on  $G \times G$  is proved which is later employed for the harmonic analysis of stationary second order stochastic processes with distributional kernels. We consider initially some basic concepts and establish notational conventions. We begin with some background material drawn from [2, 16, 30, 31] on analysis on locally compact Abelian groups.

### 1.1.1 Measure and integration on locally compact Abelian groups

The algebra of continuous functions with support in a compact subset K of a locally compact Abelian group G, equipped with the uniform norm, is denoted  $C_K(G)$ . The union of all such spaces,

$$\mathcal{K}(G) = \bigcup_{K} C_K(G),$$

is a locally convex function algebra [30] when equipped with its natural inductive limit topology.  $\mathcal{K}(G)$  is continuously embedded into its dual space, the space of *Radon measures*,

$$\mathcal{R}(G) = \bigcap_{K} C_{K}(G)',$$

equipped with its natural projective limit topology. Pointwise multiplication may be extended by transposition to make  $\mathcal{R}(G)$  a locally convex topological  $\mathcal{K}(G)$ -module. Given a Radon measure,  $\mu \in \mathcal{R}(G)$ , and  $\phi \in \mathcal{K}(G)$ , the value  $\langle \phi, \mu \rangle = \mu(\phi)$  is an *integral*, denoted

$$\int_G \phi(x) d\mu(x).$$

A Radon measure  $\mu$  is *positive* if it acts non-negatively on the positive cone of nonnegative functions in  $\mathcal{K}(G)$ . The group G acts through translation on  $\mathcal{K}(G)$ ; given  $x \in G$ , the corresponding translation operator  $L_x$  is defined by

$$L_x\phi(y) = \phi(y-x).$$

This action of G extends through transposition to R(G) and it is well known that there exists a positive translation-invariant Radon measure which is unique up to multiplication by a scalar. We denote this *Haar measure* by dx.  $\mathcal{K}(G)$  is also a topological algebra with respect to convolution, which is defined by

$$\phi \star \psi(x) = \int_G \phi(x-y)\psi(y)dy$$

and  $\mathcal{R}(G)$  is a topological  $\mathcal{K}(G)$ -module with respect to convolution, defined by transposition. The involutions on  $\mathcal{K}(G)$  defined by  $\tilde{\phi}(x) = \phi(-x)$  and  $\phi^*(x) = \overline{\phi}(-x)$ extend to  $\mathcal{R}(G)$  by transposition. The uniform completion of  $\mathcal{K}(G)$  is the algebra  $C_0(G)$  of continuous functions vanishing at infinity. Since  $\mathcal{K}(G)$  is continuously and densely embedded into  $C_0(G)$ , it is clear that any Radon measure  $\mu \in \mathcal{R}(G)$  which is uniformly bounded on  $\mathcal{K}(G)$  in the sense that

$$\sup_K \|\mu\|_{C_K(G)'} < \infty$$

extends to an element of the dual space of  $C_0(G)$ .  $C_0(G)' = M(G)$  is the space of bounded Radon measures and is a commutative  $\star$ -Banach algebra with respect to convolution.

### 1.1.2 The Fourier transform

The completion of the image of the continuous embedding,

 $\phi \mapsto \phi dx,$ 

The set of  $L^1(G)$ -homomorphisms, equipped with the weak-\* topology, is a locally compact Abelian group,  $\widehat{G}$ , the *dual group*, whose elements are the *characters* of G. Each  $\phi \in L^1(G)$  defines a function,  $\widehat{\phi}$ , on the dual group according to

$$\widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x}) = \int_{G} \phi(x) \overline{\langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle} dx, \widehat{x} \in \widehat{G}.$$

The linear mapping

$$\mathcal{F}_G:\phi\mapsto\widehat{\phi}$$

thus defined is the Fourier transform; its isometric image is the Fourier algebra,  $A(\hat{G})$ . The identity

$$\langle \check{\phi}, \widehat{\psi} \rangle = \langle \phi, \psi \rangle, \phi \in L^1(G), \psi \in L^\infty(G),$$

where

$$\check{\phi}(\widehat{x}) = \int_{G} \phi(x) \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle dx, \widehat{x} \in \widehat{G},$$

defines an extension of the Fourier transform by duality to an isometry of  $L^{\infty}(G)$ onto  $A(\widehat{G})'$ , the algebra of *pseudomeasures*.

**Definition 1.**  $h \in L^{\infty}(G)$  is of *positive type* if it is positive on the algebra  $L^{1}(G)$  in the sense that

$$\langle \phi \star \phi^{\star}, h \rangle \ge 0, \forall \phi \in L^1(G).$$

Functions of positive type are characterised by the classical Bochner theorem.

### Theorem 1. (The Bochner Theorem)

A function h on the locally compact Abelian group G is of positive type if and only if there exists a positive, bounded measure  $\mu_h \in M(\widehat{G})$  such that

$$h(x) = \int_{\widehat{G}} \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle \ d\mu_h(\widehat{x}).$$

$$||h||_{L^{\infty}(G)} = h(0) = ||\mu_h||_{M(\widehat{G})},$$

and we note that the character  $\hat{x}$  is the function of positive type on G associated to the *Dirac measure*  $\delta_{\hat{x}}$  on  $\hat{G}$ .

Each  $x \in G$  determines a character  $\widehat{\widehat{x}}_x$  of  $\widehat{G}$  according to

$$\langle \widehat{x}, \widehat{\widehat{x}}_x \rangle = \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle.$$

In fact, all characters of the dual group are determined in this way, which is the content of the following theorem.

**Theorem 2.** (Pontryagin duality theorem)

$$x\mapsto \widehat{\widehat{x}}_x$$

is a homeomorphic isomorphism of the groups G and  $\widehat{G}$ .

**Theorem 3.** (The Plancherel theorem) There exists a normalisation of the dual Haar measure  $d\hat{x}$  such that the Fourier transform is unitary from the dense subspace  $L^1 \cap L^2(G)$  of  $L^2(G)$  into  $L^2(\widehat{G})$  and hence extends to a unitary isomorphism of  $L^2(G)$ onto  $L^2(\widehat{G})$ .

Hence, for each  $\phi \in L^2(G)$ , we have

$$\int_{G} |\phi(x)|^2 dx = \int_{\widehat{G}} |\widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x})|^2 d\widehat{x}.$$

**Theorem 4.** (The inversion theorem) Given that the respective Haar measures on G and its dual have been normalised in order to ensure the validity of the Plancharel theorem, every  $\phi \in L^1 \cap A(G)$  can be represented in the form

$$\phi(x) = \int_{\widehat{G}} \widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x}) \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle d\widehat{x}, x \in G.$$

## 1.2 Banach Gelfand triples

A Gelfand triple is a generalisation of the notion of a Hilbert space which is well-known in the literature, albeit under different names such as 'rigged Hilbert space', 'equipped Hilbert space' [18], 'resolution space'. Gelfand triples arising from dense Banach subspaces of a Hilbert space are considered in [14] and arise, at least implicitely, from integrable group representations in the theory of atomic decompositions of coorbit spaces [13].

### 1.2.1 Basic notions

Let  $(\mathcal{H}, \langle | \rangle)$  be a separable Hilbert space with a dense Banach subspace, B. We denote the pairing of B with its dual B' by  $\langle , \rangle$  - ie

$$\langle , \rangle : B \times B' \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}; (\phi, \mu) \mapsto \langle \phi, \mu \rangle.$$

If we denote the inclusion of B into  $\mathcal{H}$  by  $i_B$  and the antilinear identification of  $\mathcal{H}$ with  $\mathcal{H}'$  by  $\overline{I}_{\mathcal{H}}$ , then the operator

$$\overline{I}_B = i_B^* \overline{I}_{\mathcal{H}} i_B : B \longrightarrow B'; \phi \mapsto \overline{\phi}$$

is an antilinear embedding of B into its dual (see §0 of [32] and chapter 2 of [33] for a similar notion). We may write this fact as

$$\langle i_B \phi | i_B \psi \rangle = \langle \phi, \overline{I}_B \psi \rangle,$$

or simply,

$$\langle \phi | \psi \rangle = \langle \phi, \overline{\psi} \rangle.$$

The space

$$\overline{B} = \overline{I}_B B = \{\overline{\phi} : \phi \in B\}.$$

equipped with the transported norm, is a dense Banach subspace of  $\mathcal{H}'$  called the *antispace* of B and it is clear that

$$\overline{\overline{B}} = B.$$

The operator  $\overline{I}_B$  extends by duality to an antilinear isomorphism of B' and  $\overline{B'} = \overline{B'}$ , the antidual of B - ie for  $\phi \in B, \mu \in B'$ ,

$$\langle \overline{\phi}, \overline{\mu} \rangle = \overline{\langle \phi, \mu \rangle}.$$

Since  $i_B$  is an injection,  $\overline{B}$  is w<sup>\*</sup> dense in B' and the inner product may be extended to a sesquilinear form on  $B \times B'$  or  $(B' \times B)$  - ie

$$\langle \phi | \mu \rangle = \langle \phi, \overline{\mu} \rangle, \langle \mu | \phi \rangle = \overline{\langle \phi, \overline{\mu} \rangle}, \text{ where } \phi \in B, \mu \in B'.$$
 (1.2.1)

Definition 2. A triple

$$((B, \mathcal{H}, B'), \langle | \rangle),$$

consisting of a Banach space B, continuously and densely embedded into a Hilbert Space  $\mathcal{H}$ , which, in turn, is weak\* densely embedded into the dual space B', equipped with the inner product (1.2.1), is called a *Banach Gelfand triple*.

**Definition 3.** Given two Gelfand triples  $(B_1, \mathcal{H}_1, B'_1)$  and  $(B_2, \mathcal{H}_2, B'_2)$ , an isomorphism V of  $B_1$  onto  $B_2$  extends to an isomorphism of the respective dual spaces. V is a *Gelfand triple isomorphism* if it extends to an isomorphism of  $\mathcal{H}_1$  onto  $\mathcal{H}_2$ , in which case it is a *unitary Gelfand Triple isomorphism* if

$$\langle V\phi|V\psi\rangle_2 = \langle \phi|\psi\rangle_1, \forall \phi, \psi \in B_1.$$

### **1.2.2** Kernels and operators

The algebraic tensor product  $B \otimes \overline{B}$  is a dense subspace of the Hilbert space tensor product  $\mathcal{H} \otimes \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ . The projective tensor product  $B \otimes \overline{B}$  is the completion of  $B \otimes \overline{B}$  with respect to the least cross-norm

$$\|\sigma\|_{\widehat{\otimes}} = \inf\{\sum_{i \in I} \|\phi_i\|_B \|\psi_i\|_B : \sigma = \sum_{i \in I} \phi_i \otimes \overline{\psi}_i\},\$$

and is a Banach \*-algebra when equipped with the multiplication

$$\phi_1\otimes \overline{\psi}_1.\phi_2\otimes \overline{\psi}_2 = \langle \phi_2,\psi_1\rangle \phi_1\otimes \overline{\psi}_2$$

and involution

$$(\phi \otimes \overline{\psi})^{\star} = \psi \otimes \overline{\phi}. \tag{1.2.2}$$

Since  $B \widehat{\otimes} \overline{B}$  is continuously embedded into  $\mathcal{H} \otimes \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ , it generates the Gelfand triple

$$(B\widehat{\otimes}\overline{B},\mathcal{H}\otimes\overline{\mathcal{H}},(B\widehat{\otimes}\overline{B})').$$

If, for  $\phi, \psi, \varphi \in B$ , we let

$$\phi \star \psi^* \varphi = \langle \varphi | \psi \rangle \phi,$$

then the mapping  $\phi \otimes \overline{\psi} \mapsto \phi \star \psi^*$  extends to an  $\star$ -isometry  $\sigma \mapsto T_{\sigma}$  of  $B \widehat{\otimes} \overline{B}$  onto an operator algebra which we denote by  $B \widehat{\otimes} B^*$ .  $B \widehat{\otimes} B^*$  is a two-sided ideal in  $\mathcal{L}(B)$ , the algebra of bounded linear operators on B. We denote the inverse isometry by

$$\kappa: T \mapsto \kappa(T).$$

Where B is a function space on a locally compact Abelian group G, T is an integral operator, and the function  $\kappa(T)$  on  $G \times G$  is called the *kernel* of T.

The operator algebra  $\mathcal{H} \widehat{\otimes} \mathcal{H}^*$  is the algebra of *trace class operators* on  $\mathcal{H}$  and denoted  $\tau(\mathcal{H})$ . It is equipped with the inner product

$$\langle S|T\rangle = trST^{\star},$$

where the trace functional,  $tr \in \tau(\mathcal{H})'$ , is defined by

$$tr \ \phi \otimes \psi^* = \langle \phi | \psi \rangle.$$

The Hilbert space completion of  $\tau(\mathcal{H})$  is the *Hilbert-Schmidt* space,  $\mathcal{HS}(\mathcal{H})$ . Given that  $\mathcal{H}'$  may be identified with  $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ , it is a simple consequence of the theory of projective tensor products that  $\sigma \mapsto T_{\sigma}$  extends to a unitary isomorphism of the Gelfand triple

$$(\mathcal{H}\widehat{\otimes}\overline{\mathcal{H}},\mathcal{H}\otimes\overline{\mathcal{H}},(\mathcal{H}\widehat{\otimes}\overline{\mathcal{H}})')$$

onto the Gelfand triple of operator spaces.

$$(\tau(\mathcal{H}), \mathcal{HS}(\mathcal{H}), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})).$$

More generally, since  $B \widehat{\otimes} B^*$  dense in  $\tau(\mathcal{H}), \sigma \mapsto T_{\sigma}$  extends to a unitary isomorphism of the Gelfand triple

$$(B\widehat{\otimes}\overline{B},\mathcal{H}\otimes\overline{\mathcal{H}},(B\widehat{\otimes}\overline{B})')$$

onto the Gelfand triple of operator spaces

$$(B\widehat{\otimes}B^{\star},\mathcal{HS}(\mathcal{H}),\mathcal{L}(B,\overline{B}')),$$

where the identification between an operator  $T \in \mathcal{L}(B, \overline{B}')$  and  $\kappa(T) \in (B \otimes \overline{B})'$  is given by

$$\langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \kappa(T) \rangle = \langle \overline{\psi}, T\phi \rangle.$$

**Definition 4.** With the notation above, we call  $\kappa(T)$  the kernel of the operator T.

# 1.2.3 Banach Gelfand triples and reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces

Schwartz showed in [32] and [33] that there is a bijective correspondence between the set of positive definite kernels - the Schwartz reproducing kernels - associated to a separable locally convex topological vector space, E, and the set of Hilbert subspaces of E. Given a Banach Gelfand triple,  $(B, \mathcal{H}, B')$ , very elementary methods are used below to show that there exists a bijective correspondence between the Hilbert subspaces of B' and the set of positive definite elements of  $(B \otimes \overline{B})'$ , which we refer to as Schwartz reproducing kernels.

**Definition 5.** The involution (1.2.2) extends by duality to an involution of  $(B \otimes B)'$ .  $\kappa(T) \in (B \otimes B)'$  is Hermitian if it is invariant under involution, ie  $\kappa(T)^* = \kappa(T)$ , and positive-definite if

$$\langle \phi \otimes \overline{\phi}, \kappa(T) \rangle \ge 0, \ \forall \phi \in B.$$

The operator T corresponding to an Hermitian or positive-definite  $\kappa(T)$  is called an Hermitian or positive-definite operator, respectively.

The set,  $(B \widehat{\otimes} \overline{B})'^+$ , of positive-definite elements of  $(B \widehat{\otimes} \overline{B})'$ , is a w\*-closed convex cone, on which an ordering,  $\geq$ , is defined by

$$\kappa(T) \ge \kappa(S) \iff \kappa(T) - \kappa(S) \ge 0.$$

If we denote the space

$$\overline{I}_B \mathcal{L}(B, \overline{B'}) = \{\overline{I}_B T : T \in \mathcal{L}(B, \overline{B'})\}$$

of antilinear operators from B into its dual by  $\overline{\mathcal{L}}(B, B')$ , then the antilinear identification between  $\kappa(T) \in (B \otimes \overline{B})'$  and an antilinear operator  $\overline{T} \in \overline{\mathcal{L}}(B, B')$  is given by

$$\langle \psi, \overline{T}\phi \rangle = \overline{\langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \kappa(T) \rangle}.$$

**Definition 6.** Let  $(B, \mathcal{H}, B')$  be a Banach Gelfand triple. A Hilbert space continuously embedded into B' is called a *Hilbert subspace of* B'; the set of all such subspaces is denoted Hilb(B').

**Definition 7.** A Hilbert subspace  $(\mathcal{J}, \langle | \rangle)$  of B' is a reproducing kernel Hilbert space if there exists an antilinear operator  $\overline{T} \in \mathcal{L}(B, B')$  such that

1.  $\overline{T}\phi \in \mathcal{J}, \forall \phi \in B$  and

2.  $\langle \phi, \mu \rangle = \langle \mu | \overline{T} \phi \rangle, \forall \mu \in \mathcal{J}, \phi \in B.$ 

In the following two propositions, we show that every Hilbert subspace of B' is a reproducing kernel Hilbert space. This result is new for Gelfand triples; similar results in the context of reproducing kernel Hilbert subspaces of  $\mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  can be found in [25] and in a more general context in [33].

Initially we show that every  $\kappa(T) \in (B \widehat{\otimes} \overline{B})'^+$  generates a Hilbert subspace,  $\mathcal{H}_T$  of B'.

**Proposition 1.** Given  $\kappa(T) \in (B \widehat{\otimes} \overline{B})'^+$ , let  $\mathcal{H}_T$  be the completion of the subspace  $\overline{T}B = \{\overline{T}\phi : \phi \in B\}$ 

of B' with respect to the seminorm

$$\|\overline{T}\phi\| = \sqrt{\langle \phi \otimes \overline{\phi}, \kappa(T) \rangle}.$$

Then  $(\mathcal{H}_T, \langle | \rangle_T)$ , where

$$\langle \overline{T}\phi | \overline{T}\psi \rangle_T = \overline{\langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \kappa(T) \rangle},$$

is a Hilbert subspace of B'.

*Proof.*  $\langle | \rangle_T$  is an inner product since from the Schwartz inequality,

 $|\langle \psi, \overline{T}\phi \rangle| \le \|\overline{T}\phi\| \|\overline{T}\psi\|,$ 

it is clear that

$$\|\overline{T}\phi\| = 0 \Rightarrow \langle \psi, \overline{T}\phi \rangle = 0, \forall \psi \in B,$$

and hence that  $\overline{T}\phi$  is the zero element in B'. The linear operator  $\tilde{T} \in \mathcal{L}(B, \overline{\mathcal{H}}_T)$ defined by  $\tilde{T}\phi = T\phi = \overline{\overline{T}\phi}$  has dense range and hence  $\tilde{T}^*$  is a continuous linear embedding of  $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_T' = \mathcal{H}_T$  into B'.

Conversely, the following proposition shows every element of Hilb(B') is generated by an element of  $(B \widehat{\otimes} \overline{B})'^+$ .

**Proposition 2.** Given a Banach Gelfand triple,  $(B, \mathcal{H}, B')$  and  $\mathcal{J} \in Hilb(B')$ , there exists a unique  $\kappa(T) \in (B \widehat{\otimes} \overline{B})'^+$  such that  $\mathcal{J} = \mathcal{H}_T$ .

$$\langle i_{\mathcal{J}}\overline{I}_{\mathcal{J}'}i_{\mathcal{J}}^{\star}\phi|i_{\mathcal{J}}\overline{I}_{\mathcal{J}'}i_{\mathcal{J}}^{\star}\psi\rangle_{\mathcal{J}} = \langle \psi, i_{\mathcal{J}}\overline{I}_{\mathcal{J}'}i_{\mathcal{J}'}^{\star}\phi\rangle, \text{ for } \phi, \psi \in B,$$

and it is clear that

$$\mathcal{J} = \mathcal{H}_T$$
, where  $\overline{T} = i_{\mathcal{J}'} I_{\mathcal{J}} i^*_{\mathcal{J}'}$ .

From propositions 1 and 2 above, there is a bijective correspondence,

$$\kappa(T) \leftrightarrow \mathcal{H}_T,$$

between the Hilb(B') and  $(B \widehat{\otimes} \overline{B})'^+$ .

**Definition 8.** The positive-definite kernel  $\kappa(T) \in (B \widehat{\otimes} \overline{B})'^+$  is called the *Schwartz* reproducing kernel of the Hilbert subspace  $\mathcal{H}_T$  of B'.

### **1.2.4** The convex cone Hilb(B')

We describe briefly the remarkable structure of Hilb(B').

1. There exists a law of multiplication by non-negative scalars. Given  $\mathcal{J} \in Hilb(B')$ and a positive real number  $c, c\mathcal{J}$  is the set consisting of the elements of the original Hilbert space  $\mathcal{J}$  equipped with the scalar product  $\langle , \rangle_{c\mathcal{J}}$ , where

$$\langle h, k \rangle_{c,\mathcal{T}} = 1/c \langle h, k \rangle_{\mathcal{T}}.$$

Where c = 0, we let  $c\mathcal{J} = \{0\}$ .

2. There exists a law of addition on Hilb(B'). Given Hilbert subspaces  $\mathcal{J}, \mathcal{K} \in$ Hilb(B') the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{J} + \mathcal{K}$  is the completion of the space

$$\{\mu = j + k : j \in \mathcal{J}, k \in \mathcal{K}\},\$$

with respect to the norm

$$\|\mu\|_{\mathcal{J}+\mathcal{K}} = \inf\{\sqrt{\|j\|_{\mathcal{J}}^2 + \|k\|_{\mathcal{K}}^2} : j \in \mathcal{J}, k \in \mathcal{K}\}.$$

Equivalently,

$$\mathcal{I} + \mathcal{K} = (\mathcal{J} \oplus \mathcal{K})/ker\Phi,$$

where

$$\Phi: \mathcal{J} \oplus \mathcal{K} \longrightarrow B'; (h,k) \mapsto h+k.$$

3. An order relation is defined on Hilb(B').

$$\mathcal{J} \leq \mathcal{K} \iff B_{\mathcal{J}} \subset B_{\mathcal{K}},$$

where  $B_{\mathcal{J}}, B_{\mathcal{K}}$  are the closed unit balls in  $\mathcal{J}, \mathcal{K} \in Hilb(B')$  respectively.

We are now in a position to state the fundamental result concerning the relationship between  $(B \otimes \overline{B})'^+$  and Hilb(B'), the proof of which may be found in [32, 33].

**Proposition 3.** The mapping  $\kappa(T) \mapsto \mathcal{H}_T$  is an isomorphism of the convex cone  $(B \widehat{\otimes} \overline{B})'^+$  onto Hilb(B'). More explicitly:

- 1.  $c.\kappa(T)$  is the Schwartz reproducing kernel of  $c\mathcal{H}_T$ ;
- 2.  $\kappa(S) + \kappa(T)$  is the Schwartz reproducing kernel of  $\mathcal{H}_S + \mathcal{H}_T$ ;
- 3.  $\mathcal{H}_S \leq \mathcal{H}_T \iff \kappa(S) \leq \kappa(T).$

## 1.2.5 Direct integrals in Hilb(B')over locally compact Abelian groups

For each  $x \in G$ , let  $T_x$  be an element of  $(B \otimes \overline{B})'^+$  and let  $x \mapsto \kappa(T_x)$  be weakly measurable in the sense that the function  $x \mapsto \langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \kappa(T_x) \rangle$  is Borel measurable for all  $\psi, \phi \in B$ . Each  $\phi \in B$  defines a vector field

$$\tilde{\phi}: G \longrightarrow \prod_{x \in G} \mathcal{H}_{T_x}; x \mapsto \overline{T}_x \phi.$$

Hence if  $\{\phi_i\}_{i \in I}$  is a countably dense subset of B, the following is true:

- 1.  $x \mapsto \langle \tilde{\phi}_i(x), \tilde{\phi}_j(x) \rangle_{H_{T_x}}$  is measurable for all  $i, j \in I$ ;
- 2. the linear span of  $\{\tilde{\phi}_i(x)\}_{i\in I}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}_{T_x}$  for each  $x \in G$ .

Consequently, the vector fields  $\{\tilde{\phi}_i\}_{i\in I}$  make  $\{\mathcal{H}_{T_x}\}_{x\in G}$  into a measurable field in Hilb(B') over G [16].

**Definition 9.** Given a positive Radon measure  $\mu$  on G,  $\{\mathcal{H}_{T_x}\}_{x\in G} \subset Hilb(B')$  is  $\mu$ -summable if

$$\int_{G} \|\overline{T}_{x}\phi\|_{\mathcal{H}_{T_{x}}}^{2} d\mu(x) < \infty, \forall \phi \in B.$$

Given a positive Radon measure  $\mu$  and a  $\mu$ -summable field  $\{\mathcal{H}_{T_x}\}_{x\in G} \subset Hilb(B')$ , the Hilbert space completion of the set of vector fields  $\{\tilde{\phi} : \phi \in B\}$ , equipped with the inner product

$$\langle \tilde{\phi} | \tilde{\psi} \rangle = \int_{G} \langle \tilde{\phi}(x) | \tilde{\psi}(x) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{T_x}} d\mu(x),$$

is an element of Hilb(B') called the *direct integral* of the spaces  $\{\mathcal{H}_{T_x}\}_{x\in G}$  with respect to the measure  $\mu$  and is denoted by

$$\int_{G}^{\oplus} \mathcal{H}_{T_{x}} d\mu(x). \tag{1.2.3}$$

The Schwartz reproducing kernel of the direct integral 1.2.3 is

$$\int_G \kappa(T_x) d\mu(x) \in (B\widehat{\otimes}\overline{B})'^+$$

defined by

$$\langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \int_G \kappa(T_x) d\mu(x) \rangle = \int_G \langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \kappa(T_x) \rangle d\mu(x).$$

## **1.3** The Schwartz-Bruhat space and tempered distributions on G

Fourier analysis has been extended to larger classes of objects using distributional methods associated to various spaces of test functions. One such space is the Schwartz-Bruhat space [4] of rapidly decreasing functions, S(G), which we describe purely for the sake of comparison and completeness.

Let G be an elementary group, ie

$$G = \mathbb{R}^p \times \mathbb{Z}^q \times \mathbb{T}^r \times F,$$

where p, q and r are non-negative integers and F is a finite Abelian group. A function  $\phi$  is an element of  $\mathcal{S}(G)$  if and only if the function and all its derivatives with respect to the real and toral subgroups remain bounded when multiplied with a polynomial whose coefficients consist of infinitely differentiable functions on the torus. The topology on  $\mathcal{S}(G)$  is derived from the corresponding seminorms in the usual manner. In the case of an arbitrary locally compact Abelian group, G, a Bruhat pair consists of an open, compactly generated subgroup H of G and a compact subgroup L of H such that H/L is an elementary group.

**Definition 10.** S(G) is the inductive limit of the spaces S(H/L) over all Bruhat pairs (H, L).

The Schwartz-Bruhat space can also be defined without using structure theory. Osborne [28] defined a space of functions which decay rapidly off compact subsets of a locally compact Abelian group G as follows: A function  $\phi \in L^{\infty}(G)$  is an element of  $\mathcal{A}(G)$  if there exists a compact subset  $C(\phi)$  of G with the property that for each positive integer n there is a constant  $M_n$  such that for each integer  $k \geq 1$ ,

 $\|\phi\|_{G-C(\phi)^k}\|_{\infty} \le M_n k^{-n}.$ 

The following theorem was proved in [28]:

**Theorem 5.** The Schwartz-Bruhat space is the space

 $\mathcal{S}(G) = \{ \phi \in \mathcal{A}(G) | \widehat{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}(\widehat{G}) \}.$ 

The Schwartz-Bruhat space has a large number of very desirable properties from the point of view of harmonic analysis. In particular, it is a Fourier invariant, locally convex function space with a double module structure, continuously and densely embedded into many of the classical function spaces. The Fourier transform may be extended by duality to the space of tempered distributions,  $\mathcal{S}'(G)$ , and of particular interest in the context of the harmonic analysis of stochastic processes is the extension of Bochner's theorem to  $\mathcal{S}'(G)$  [36]. The Schwartz-Bruhat space is, however, unwieldy and difficult to use. A much simpler and more accessible option is available, as we shall see.

## 1.4 The Feichtinger algebra $S_0(G)$ and applications

### 1.4.1 Quasimeasures

Given a compact subset K of a locally compact Abelian group G, we denote by

$$A_K(G) = A(G) \bigcap C_K(G)$$

the set consisting of elements of the Fourier algebra supported in K. The compacted Fourier algebra,

$$A_c(G) = \bigcup_K A_K(G),$$

equipped with its natural inductive limit topology, is a locally convex function algebra and a convolution ideal of  $\mathcal{K}(G)$  containing positive functions with arbitrarily small support. Its dual space

$$Q(G) = \bigcap_{K} A_K(G)',$$

is the space of quasimeasures. The space of Radon measures,  $\mathcal{R}(G)$ , is continuously embedded into Q(G), when both spaces are equipped with their natural projective limit topology. A quasimeasure is *positive* if it acts non-negatively on the cone of nonnegative elements of the compacted Fourier algebra. Every positive quasimeasure is, in fact, a Radon measure; this is easily proved.

**Proposition 4.** A positive quasimeasure is a (positive) Radon measure.

*Proof.* Let a compact set  $K \subset G$  be given. Pick a compact neighbourhood U of the identity. Since  $A_c(G)$  is a convolution ideal in  $\mathcal{K}(G)$  and contains positive functions with arbitrarily small support, we can arbitrarily uniformly approximate any positive function  $\phi \in C_K(G)$  by a positive function  $u \star \phi \in A_c(G)$  with support in K + U. An application of Theorem 2, Chap III, section 2 of [3] completes the proof.

**Definition 11.** A quasimeasure  $\mu$  vanishes on an open set  $O \subset G$  if

$$\langle \phi, \mu \rangle = 0, \forall \phi \in A_c(G) \text{ with } supp \ \phi \subset O.$$

The support of a quasimeasure  $\mu$ , denoted by  $supp \mu$ , is the complement of the largest open set on which  $\mu$  vanishes.

We note that every pseudomeasure is a quasimeasure and every compactly supported quasimeasure is a pseudomeasure. Q(G) is a locally convex toplogical module over the compacted Fourier algebra with respect to pointwise multiplication, defined by transposition. In the case of convolution, the module action extends to a vaguely or  $\sigma(\mathcal{R}(G), \mathcal{K}(G))$ -continuous linear operator from  $\mathcal{K}(G)$  into R(G), which commutes with translations. Conversely, every operator of this type is a convolution with a quasimeasure. These facts were established in [17] where quasimeasures were introduced as the topological dual of a space of functions D(G), which is shown in [6] to be isomorphic to the compacted Fourier algebra.

### 1.4.2 Bounded uniform partitions of unity in A(G)

**Definition 12.** Let U be a compact neighbourhood of the identity. A countable collection  $\{x_i\}_{i \in I} \subset G$  is

1. U-dense, if

$$G = \bigcup_{i \in I} (x_i + U);$$

2. relatively separated, if, for any compact set  $K \subset G$ ,

 $\sup_{y \in G} |\{i \in I : (y+K) \cap (x_i+U) \neq \emptyset\}| = c_K < \infty.$ 

A bounded uniform partition of unity in A(G) subordinate to U - U-BUPU, for short - is a collection  $\{\psi_i\}_{i \in I} \subset A(G)$  such that,

$$\sum_{i\in I}\psi_i(x)=1, \forall x\in G;$$

1.

2.

3.

supp  $\psi_i \subset (x_i + U), \forall i \in I;$ 

$$\sup_{i\in I} \|\psi_i\|_{A(G)} < \infty,$$

where  $\{x_i\}_{i \in I} \subset G$  is any U-dense, relatively separated set.

A bounded uniform partition of unity in A(G) may be found for any compact neighbourhood of the identity [11].

### 1.4.3 Wiener amalgam spaces of quasimeasures

We present a simplified version of the theory of Wiener amalgam spaces, specialised to quasimeasures. The original presentation can be found in [9] and a detailed exposition in [7]. Given a compact neighbourhood of the identity, U, and an associated U-BUPU,  $\{\psi_i\}_{i\in I}$ , every quasimeasure,  $\mu \in Q(G)$ , has a representation,

$$\mu = \sum_{i \in I} \psi_i \mu, \tag{1.4.1}$$

as a locally-finite sum of compactly supported pseudomeasures. Conversely, any  $\mu$  with the representation (1.4.1) is a quasimeasure [17]. The Wiener amalgam space,  $W(A', l^p)(G)$ , with *local component* A' and global component  $l^p$  consists of the set of quasimeasures,  $\mu$ , such that  $\{\|\psi_i\mu\|_{A(G)'}\}_{i\in I}$  is *p*-summable. Wiener amalgam spaces with a local component other than A' may also be defined.

**Definition 13.** Given a Banach A(G)-module B, which is continuously embedded into Q(G), the space of quasimeasures locally in B is the space

$$B_{loc} = \{ \mu \in Q(G) : \psi \mu \in B, \forall \psi \in A_c(G) \}.$$

**Definition 14.** Let  $\{\psi_i\}_{i \in I}$  be a bounded uniform partition of unity in A(G) subordinate to a compact neighbourhood of the identity. The Wiener amalgam space of quasimeasures locally in B with global  $l^p$  behaviour, for  $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ , is the space

$$W(B, l^p)(G) = \{ \mu \in B_{loc} : \{ \psi_i \mu \}_{i \in I} \in l^p \}.$$

When equipped with the amalgam norm

$$\|\mu\| = \|\{\psi_i\mu\}_{i\in I}\|_{l^p(B)},$$

 $W(B, l^p)(G)$  is a Banach A(G)-module, continuously embedded into Q(G). The definition is independent of the partition of unity used - different partitions of unity generate equivalent norms and, given any  $h \in A_c(G)$ , an equivalent "continuous" norm is defined by

$$\|\mu\|_{W(B,l^p)} = (\int_G \|L_x h.\mu\|_B^p dx)^{1/p}$$

for  $1 \leq p < \infty$ , with the obvious adjustment for  $p = \infty$ .

The following result, which is theorem 2 of [21], is very useful.

**Theorem 6.** Let  $1 \le p < \infty$  and 1/p + 1/p' = 1. Then the dual of the Wiener amalgam space  $W(B, l^p)$  is the space

$$W(B, l^p)(G)' = W(B', l^{p'})(G).$$

### 1.4.4 Segal algebras

**Definition 15.** A Banach space B, which continuously embedded into  $L^1_{loc}(G)$ , is homogeneous if it is

1. translation isometric - ie

$$||L_x\phi||_B = ||\phi||_B, \forall \phi \in B, \forall x \in G;$$

2. strongly translation continuous - ie

$$\lim_{x \to 0} \|L_x \phi - \phi\|_B = 0, \forall \phi \in B.$$

A Segal algebra is a dense, homogeneous subalgebra of  $L^1(G)$ .

Reiter's ideal theorem (Theorem 6.2.9 of [30]) states that there is a bijective correspondence between the closed ideals of a Segal algebra S(G) and those of  $L^1(G)$ . More precisely, any closed ideal in  $L^1(G)$  is the closure of an closed ideal  $I_S$  of S(G); conversely, given any closed ideal  $I_S$  of S(G), there a unique closed ideal I of  $L^1(G)$ such that

$$I_S = I \cap S(G).$$

Since the group characters are the annihilators or *co-ideals* in  $L^{\infty}(G)$  of the maximal closed ideals in  $L^{1}(G)$ , it is a consequence of the ideal theorem that the maximal ideal space of a Segal algebra is the dual group  $\widehat{G}$ .

**Definition 16.** A Segal algebra S(G) is strongly character-invariant if it is modulation isometric - ie

$$|M_{\widehat{x}}\phi||_B = ||\phi||_B, \forall \phi \in B, \forall \widehat{x} \in G,$$

in which case it is, in addition, strongly modulation continuous.

### 1.4.5 The Feichtinger algebra

**Definition 17.** The Feichtinger algebra is the Wiener amalgam space  $W(A, l^1)(G)$ .

The symbol  $S_0(G)$  is used for the Feichtinger algebra to signify that it is the minimal strongly character invariant Segal algebra [12]. Its dual space

$$S_0'(G) = W(A', l^\infty)(G)$$

is the space of translation-bounded quasimeasures. We note from [12] that  $S_0(G)$  contains the Schwartz-Bruhat space as a dense subspace and from [10] that  $S'_0(G)$  is a subspace of the space of tempered distributions.

#### 1.4.6 The Wiener algebra

 $S_0(G)$  is continuously and densely embedded into another Segal algebra of interest, the Wiener algebra [8],

$$W(G) = W(C_0, l^1)(G),$$

whose dual,

$$T(G) = W(M, l^{\infty})(G),$$

is a Banach subspace of  $S'_0(G)$ , the space of translation-bounded measures.

### 1.4.7 The extended Fourier transform and the Plancherel theorem

One of the most useful properties of  $S_0$  is its Fourier invariance - Feichtinger proved in [12] that the Fourier transform is an isomorphism of  $S_0(G)$  onto  $S_0(\widehat{G})$ . The Fourier transform may hence be extended by duality to an isomorphism of the dual spaces. The following extension of the Plancherel theorem is then a simple consequence of the density of  $S_0(G)$  in  $L^2(G)$  and the classical Plancherel theorem.

**Theorem 7.** (The Extended Plancherel Theorem) The Fourier transform is a unitary Gelfand triple isomorphism of

 $(S_0, L^2, S'_0)(G)$  onto  $(S_0, L^2, S'_0)(\widehat{G})$ .

### 1.4.8 Positivity, distributions of positive type and the Bochner theorem

We may use the Fourier transform on the space of distributions  $S'_0(G)$  to extend the classical Bochner theorem to distributions of positive type. The version of the Bochner theorem presented here for  $S'_0$  is completely new, although the theorem has already been extended to spaces of distributions. The prototype result in this respect is the Bochner-Schwartz theorem - theorem 3, p. 157 of [18] and theoreme XVIII of [34]. Other results of interest include a Bochner type result for positive-definite measures on locally compact Abelian groups - theorem 4.5 in [2] and a similar result for transformable measures - theorem 4.1 of [1]. Theorem 1, p.231 of [18] and theorems 21.4, p.493 and 2.7, p.1012 of [15] are representation theorems in a similar vein for positive functionals on commutative Banach \*-algebras. We begin by characterising the positive elements of  $S_0(G)'$ .

**Proposition 5.** Every positive element  $\mu$  of  $S'_0(G)$  is a positive, translation-bounded measure and

$$\|\mu\|_{T(G)} = \|\mu\|_{S'_0(G)}.$$

*Proof.* Let  $\mu$  be a positive element of  $S'_0(G)$  and  $\{\psi_i\}_{i \in I}$  be a BUPU in A(G). For each  $i \in I$ ,  $\psi_i \mu$  is a positive, bounded measure and hence we have

$$\|\psi_i\mu\|_{M(G)} = \|\psi_i \star \widehat{\mu}\|_{L^{\infty}(\widehat{G})}.$$

Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mu\|_{T(G)} &= sup_{i\in I} \|\psi_{i}\mu\|_{M(G)} \\ &= sup_{i\in I} \|\widehat{\psi}_{i} \star \widehat{\mu}\|_{L^{\infty}(\widehat{G})} \\ &= sup_{i\in I} \|\psi_{i}\mu\|_{A'(G)} \\ &= \|\mu\|_{S'_{0}(G)}. \end{aligned}$$

Since  $S_0(G)$  is Fourier invariant, it is clear that in addition to being a Segal algebra, it is a Banach function algebra.

**Definition 18.** A distribution  $\mu \in S'_0(G)$  is multiplicatively positive if it is positive on the function algebra  $S_0(G)$  - ie

$$\langle |\phi|^2, \mu \rangle \ge 0, \forall \phi \in S_0(G).$$

It is clear that every positive element of  $S'_0(G)$  is multiplicatively positive, but not obvious that the converse is true. An example of a linear space where multiplicative positivity does not imply positivity can be found in [18].

**Definition 19.** A distribution  $\mu \in S'_0(G)$  is of *positive type* if it is positive on the Segal algebra  $S_0(G)$  - ie if

$$\langle \phi \star \phi^{\star}, \mu \rangle \ge 0, \forall \phi \in S_0(G).$$

We note that the Fourier Transform of a multiplicatively positive distribution is a distribution of positive type. The following theorem demonstrates that positivity and multiplicative positivity are equivalent.

**Theorem 8.** (Bochner's Theorem)  $\mu \in S'_0(G)$  is of positive type if and only if its Fourier transform is a positive, translation-bounded measure.

*Proof.* The Fourier transform of a positive, translation-bounded measure is an element of  $S'_0(G)$  of positive type.

Conversely, let  $\mu \in S'_0(G)$  be of positive type. Given an approximate identity  $\{u_{\alpha}\} \subset S_0(G), \mu$  is the w\*-limit

$$\mu = \lim_{\alpha} u_{\alpha} \star u_{\alpha}^{\star} \star \mu$$

of functions of positive type. By the classical Bochner theorem and the w\*-w\* continuity of the extended Fourier transform,  $\hat{\mu}$  is the w\*-limit in  $S'_0(\hat{G})$  of a net of positive, bounded measures and is hence positive. An application of proposition 5 completes the proof.

### **1.4.9** Sets of spectral synthesis for $S_0(G)$

Given a closed subgroup H of a locally compact Abelian group G, we consider the relationship between the space of distributions  $S'_0(H)$  and the set of elements of  $S'_0(G)$ supported in H. In particular, we show that  $S'_0(H)$  is continuously embedded into  $S'_0(G)$  and that every distribution with support in H can be represented by an element of  $S'_0(H)$ . This is, in fact, equivalent to saying a closed subgroup is a *set of spectral synthesis* for the Banach function algebra  $S_0(G)$ . The result is new in the context of  $S_0(G)$ , although Hoermann has proved in [20] that, given locally compact Abelian groups  $G_1$  and  $G_2$ , the subgroup  $\{0_1\} \times G_2$  of  $G_1 \times G_2$  is a set of spectral synthesis for  $S_0(G_1 \times G_2)$ . Background information on sets of spectral synthesis can be found in [30], from which the following definition is taken.

**Definition 20.** The cospectrum of an ideal I in the function algebra  $S_0(G)$  is the set

$$Cosp \ I = \{ x \in G : \phi(x) = 0, \forall \phi \in I \}.$$

Given a closed set  $E \subset G$ , it is clear that every ideal  $I_S$  in the function algebra  $S_0(G)$  with E as cospectrum is contained in the closed ideal

$$I_E = \{ \phi \in S_0(G) : \phi(x) = 0, \forall x \in E \},\$$

and Proposition 2.1.16 of [30] shows that any such ideal  $I_S$  contains the ideal

$$J_E = \{ \phi \in S_0(G) : E \cap supp \ \phi = \emptyset \}.$$

**Definition 21.** A closed set  $E \subset G$  is a set of spectral synthesis for the function algebra  $S_0(G)$  if

$$J_E = I_E,$$

or, equivalently, if there exists precisely one closed ideal of the function algebra  $S_0(G)$  with E as cospectrum.

Given a closed set E, the operation of *restriction to* E is the quotient map

$$R_E: S_0(G) \longrightarrow S_0(G)/I_E; \phi \mapsto \phi + I_E.$$

The adjoint operator  $R_E^*$  is an isomorphism of the dual space  $(S_0(G)/I_E)'$  onto the annihilator  $I_E^{\perp} \subset S'_0(G)$ . Given  $\mu \in (S_0(G)/I_E)'$ , we have for any  $\phi \in S'_0(G)$  such that  $supp \ \phi \cap E = \emptyset$ ,

$$\langle \phi, R_E^{\star} \mu \rangle = \langle R_E \phi, \mu \rangle = 0$$

and hence that  $supp \ R_E^{\star} \mu \subset E$ . Thus we have the following inclusion

$$I_E^{\perp} \subset \{ \mu \in S'_0(G) : supp \ \mu \subset E \}.$$

The obvious question which arises here is whether inclusion can be replaced by equality; equivalently, whether every element of  $S'_0(G)$  with support in the closed set  $E \subset G$ is of the form  $R^*_E \mu$ , for some  $\mu \in (S_0(G)/I_E)'$ .

**Proposition 6.** Let E be a closed subset of the locally compact Abelian group G. If E is a set of spectral synthesis for the Banach function algebra  $S_0(G)$ , then

$$R_E^{\star}(S_0(G)/I_E)' = \{\mu \in S_0'(G) : supp \ \mu \subset E\}.$$

*Proof.* From section 4.6 of [16], we note that it is a consequence of the Hahn-Banach theorem that

 $I \leftrightarrow I^{\perp}$ 

defines a bijective correspondence between the closed ideals of  $L^1(G)$  and the w<sup>\*</sup>closed, translation-invariant subspaces of  $L^{\infty}(G)$ . Hence, using Reiter's ideal theorem and the Fourier invariance of  $S_0$ , it is clear that

$$I_S \leftrightarrow I_S^{\perp}$$

defines a bijective correspondence between the closed ideals of the function algebra  $S_0(G)$  and the w<sup>\*</sup>-closed, modulation-invariant subspaces of  $S'_0(G)$ . Since

$$J_E \subset^{\perp} \{ \mu \in S'_0(G) : supp \ \mu \subset E \}$$

$$\overline{J_E} \subset^{\perp} \{ \mu \in S'_0(G) : supp \ \mu \subset E \} \subset I_E.$$

Using the fact that E is a set of spectral synthesis for the function algebra  $S_0(G)$ , we now have that

 ${}^{\perp}\{\mu \in S'_0(G) : supp \ \mu \subset E\} = I_E$ 

and hence

$$R_E^{\star}(S_0(G)/I_E)' = I_E^{\perp} = \{ \mu \in S_0'(G) : supp \ \mu \subset E \}$$

The next result is crucial for later work.

**Proposition 7.** Closed subgroups are sets of spectral synthesis for  $S_0(G)$ .

*Proof.* The statement follows from the ideal theorem and corollary 7.3.4 of [30].  $\Box$ 

### 1.4.10 Periodisation and restriction

The Feichtinger algebra exhibits invariance under the operation of restriction,  $R_H$ , and periodisation,  $P_H$ , over a closed subgroup H. We show that the corresponding adjoint operators  $R_H^*$  and  $P_H^*$  are isomorphisms of  $S_0(H)'$  and  $S_0(G/H)'$  onto the closed subspaces of  $S_0(G)'$  consisting of elements which are supported in H and are H-periodic respectively. The proofs require results results of the previous section and are presented here for the first time, although the results have been stated in [10]. In addition, using the Bochner theorem for  $S_0(G)'$ , we present an original proof of the Poisson summation formula.

**Proposition 8.** Given a closed subgroup H of the locally compact Abelian group G, the image of  $S_0(G)$  under the restriction map  $R_H$ , equipped with the transported norm - is  $S_0(H)$ , ie

$$R_H(S_0(G)) = S_0(H).$$

Proof. See theorem 7 of [12].
**Proposition 9.** Let H be a closed subgroup of a locally compact Abelian group G. Then

$$\{\mu \in S'_0(G) : supp \ \mu \subset H\} = R^*_H(S'_0(H));$$

equivalently, given any  $\mu \in S'_0(G)$  with support in a closed subgroup H, there exists  $\mu_H \in S'_0(H)$  such that

$$\langle \phi, \mu \rangle = \langle R_H \phi, \mu_H \rangle$$

*Proof.* The proposition follows from the propositions 6, 7 and 8.

As a consequence of proposition 8, we have the convolution tensor product representation of  $S_0(G)$ .

**Proposition 10.** (The convolution tensor product representation) Given  $\varphi \in S_0(G)$  and  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists  $\{\phi_i\}_{i \in I}, \{\psi_i\}_{i \in I} \subset S_0(G)$  such that

$$\varphi = \sum_{i \in I} \phi_i \star \psi_i^\star$$

and

$$\sum_{i \in I} \|\phi_i\|_{S_0(G)} \|\psi_i\|_{S_0(G)} < \|\varphi\|_{S_0(G)} + \epsilon.$$

*Proof.* From proposition 8, the restriction of  $S_0(G \times G)$  to the antidiagonal can be identified with  $S_0(G)$  and the proof is completed by an appeal to the Fourier invariance of  $S_0$ .

**Definition 22.** The *periodisation operator*  $P_H$  over the closed subgroup H of a locally compact Abelian group G is defined by

$$P_H\phi(x+H) = \int_H \phi(x+h)dh.$$

**Proposition 11.** The image of  $S_0(G)$  under the periodisation operator  $P_H$ , equipped with the quotient norm, is isometrically isomorphic to the space  $S_0(G/H)$  - ie

$$P_H(S_0(G)) = S_0(G/H).$$

*Proof.* See theorem 7 of [12].

**Definition 23.** A distribution  $\mu \in S'_0(G)$  is *H*-periodic if

$$L_h\mu = \mu, \forall h \in H.$$

**Definition 24.** Let H be a closed subgroup of a locally compact Abelian group G. The *annihilator subgroup* of H is the subgroup  $H^{\perp}$  of  $\widehat{G}$  defined by

$$H^{\perp} = \{ h^{\perp} \in \widehat{G} : \langle h, h^{\perp} \rangle = 1, \forall h \in H \}.$$

The following result characterises the H-periodicity of a distribution in terms of the support of its Fourier transform.

**Proposition 12.** Let H be a closed subgroup of a locally compact Abelian group, G.

 $\mu \in S'_0(G)$  is *H*-periodic  $\iff$  supp  $\widehat{\mu} \in H^{\perp}$ .

*Proof.* It is clear that a distribution with spectrum in  $H^{\perp}$  is H-periodic.

Conversely, let  $\mu \in S'_0(G)$  be *H*-periodic. Then, given a BUPU  $\{\psi_i\}_{i \in I} \subset A(G)$ ,  $\mu$  has the representation

$$\mu = \sum_{i \in I} \widehat{\psi}_i \star \mu$$

as a sum of *H*-periodic, continuous  $L^{\infty}(G)$  functions. An application of proposition 7.1.20 of [30] completes the proof.

**Proposition 13.** Let H be a closed subgroup of a locally compact Abelian group G. Then

$$P_{H}^{\star}(S_{0}^{\prime}(G/H)) = \{ \mu \in S_{0}^{\prime}(G) : \mu \text{ is } H - periodic \}.$$

*Proof.* The proposition follows directly from proposition 9, proposition 11 and proposition 13.  $\hfill \Box$ 

**Theorem 9.** (The Poisson Summation Formula) Let H be a closed subgroup of a locally compact Abelian group G. Then

$$\mathcal{F}_G 1_H = 1_{H^{\perp}}.$$

*Proof.*  $1_H$  is obviously *H*-invariant and, in addition, is of positive type, since

$$\langle \phi \star \phi^{\star}, 1_{H} \rangle = \int_{H} R_{H} \phi \star (R_{H} \phi)^{\star}(h) dh$$
  
=  $|\mathcal{F}_{H}(R_{H} \phi)|^{2}(0_{\widehat{H}})$   
 $\geq 0.$ 

 $1_H$  is invariant under the group of modulations  $\{M_{h^{\perp}} : h^{\perp} \in H^{\perp}\}$  and hence  $\mathcal{F}_G 1_H$  is a positive,  $H^{\perp}$ -invariant measure, supported in  $H^{\perp}$  and is hence Haar measure on  $H^{\perp}$ .

#### 1.4.11 Wiener amalgams and kernels

Where B is a homogeneous function algebra on the locally compact Abelian group, G, Wiener amalgams of the form  $W(B, l^1)(G)$  exhibit an invariance property under the formation of projective tensor products. The following result is new, although a special case - the invariance of  $S_0$  under the formation of tensor products - has been proved in [12].

**Proposition 14.** Let B be a homogeneous function algebra on the locally compact Abelian group, G. Then

$$W(B, l^1)(G)\widehat{\otimes}W(B, l^1)(G) = W(B\widehat{\otimes}B, l^1)(G \times G).$$

*Proof.* Given a BUPU  $\{\psi_i\}_{i \in I} \subset A(G), \{\psi_i \otimes \psi_j\}_{i,j \in I}$  is a BUPU in  $A(G \times G)$ . Hence, given  $\mu \in W(B, l^1)(G) \otimes W(B, l^1)(G)$  with the representation

$$\mu = \sum_{n} f_n \otimes g_n,$$

the estimate

$$\sum_{i,j} \|\psi_i \otimes \psi_j \mu\|_{\widehat{\otimes}} \leq \sum_n \sum_i \|\psi_i f_n\|_B \sum_j \|\psi_j g_n\|_B$$

implies the inclusion

$$W(B,l^1)(G)\widehat{\otimes}W(B,l^1)(G) \subset W(B\widehat{\otimes}B,l^1)(G \times G).$$

An application of corollary 4 of [11] implies the reverse inclusion and completes the proof.  $\hfill \Box$ 

The  $S_0(G)$  kernel theorem, which is stated without proof in [10], is proved below very easily. The proof should be compared to that of the kernel theorem for the Schwartz-Bruhat space [4].

**Theorem 10.** The mapping  $\sigma \mapsto T_{\sigma}$  defined by

$$\langle f \otimes \overline{g}, \sigma \rangle = \langle \overline{g}, T_{\sigma} f \rangle$$

is an isometric isomorphism of the space of kernels  $S'_0(G \times G)$  onto the space of bounded linear operators  $\mathcal{L}(S_0(G), S'_0(G))$ .

*Proof.* As a simple consequence of proposition 14, we have the representation

$$S_0(G \times G) = S_0(G) \widehat{\otimes} S_0(G)$$

and, since  $S_0(G)$  is conjugation invariant, the proof is completed by appealing to lemma III.B.26 of [37].

If we denote the isometric image of  $S_0(G \times G)$  under  $\sigma \mapsto T_{\sigma}$  by  $\mathcal{B}$ , then since  $S_0(G)$  is dense in  $L^2(G)$ ,  $\mathcal{B}$  is a proper, dense subalgebra of the space of trace class operators  $\tau(L^2(G))$  and we can extend the kernel theorem as follows:

**Proposition 15.** The mapping  $\sigma \mapsto T_{\sigma}$  is a unitary Gelfand triple isomorphism of

 $(S_0(G \times G), L^2(G \times G), S'_0(G \times G))$  onto  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{HS}(L^2(G)), \mathcal{B}')$ .

#### 1.4.12 Bimeasures

**Definition 25.** A *bimeasure* on a locally compact Abelian group G is continuous linear mapping

$$B: \mathcal{K}(G) \longrightarrow \mathcal{R}(G),$$

where  $\mathcal{R}(G)$  is equipped with its natural projective limit topology.

The dual of the Varopoulos algebra  $V_0(G \times G) = C_0(G) \widehat{\otimes} C_0(G)$  is the bimeasure algebra of bounded bimeasures [19],

$$BM(G \times G) = \mathcal{L}(C_0(G), M(G)).$$

$$W_0(G \times G) = W(C_0, l^1)(G) \widehat{\otimes} W(C_0, l^1)(G)$$

is a proper subalgebra of the  $V_0(G \times G)$ . An application of proposition 14 yields

$$W_0'(G \times G) = W(BM, l^\infty)(G \times G),$$

the space of translation-bounded bimeasures.

#### 1.4.13 Fourier multipliers

The following definition is from [10].

**Definition 26.**  $T \in \mathcal{B}'$  is a Fourier multiplier if it commutes with translations - ie

$$L_x^*TL_x = T, \forall x \in G.$$

We denote by

$$M(S_0(G), S'_0(G))$$

the subspace of  $\mathcal{B}'$  consisting of Fourier multipliers. The following result characterises

the space  $M(S_0(G), S'_0(G))$  was stated without proof in [10].

**Proposition 16.**  $T \in \mathcal{B}'$  is a Fourier multiplier if and only if there exists  $\mu_T \in S'_0(G)$  such that

$$T\phi = \phi \star \mu_T$$

Furthermore,

is an isomorphism of  $M(S_0(G), S'_0(G))$  onto  $S'_0(G)$  - ie

 $||T||_{\mathcal{B}'} = ||\mu_T||_{S'_0(G)}.$ 

 $T \mapsto \mu_T$ 

*Proof.* Any operator generated through convolution with an element of  $S'_0(G)$  is a Fourier multiplier in  $\mathcal{B}'$ .

Conversely, from the kernel representation,

$$\langle \overline{\psi}, T\phi \rangle = \langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \kappa(T) \rangle,$$

and proposition 13 it is clear that

T is a Fourier multiplier  $\iff \kappa(T)$  is  $\Delta_G$  – invariant  $\iff supp \ \mathcal{F}_{G \times G} \kappa(T) \subset \nabla_{\widehat{G}}$ ,

where  $\Delta_G$  and  $\nabla_G$  denote the diagonal and antidiagonal subgroups of  $G \times G$  respectively and we use the fact that  $\Delta_G^{\perp} = \nabla_{\widehat{G}}$ .

Since  $\nabla_{\widehat{G}}$  is naturally isomorphic to  $\widehat{G}$ , we have from proposition 7 and the Fourier invariance of  $S_0(G)$  that there exists  $\mu_T \in S'_0(G)$  such that

$$\begin{array}{lll} \langle \overline{\psi}, T\phi \rangle & = & \langle \widehat{\overline{\psi}}, \widehat{\mu}_T \widehat{\phi} \rangle \\ & = & \langle \overline{\psi}, \mu_T \star \phi \rangle, \end{array}$$

-

which yields the representation

$$T\phi = \mu_T \star \phi$$

as required. If we denote the identification of  $S'_0((G \times G)/\Delta_G)$  and  $S'_0(G)$  by  $i_{\Delta_G}$ , then, by proposition 13, the operator  $P^*_{\Delta_G}i_{\Delta_G}$  is an isomorphism of  $S'_0(G)$  onto the subspace of diagonally invariant kernels in  $S'_0(G \times G)$ .

### 1.4.14 Translation-invariant Hilbert Subspaces of $S'_0(G)$ and the Bochner-Schwartz-Godement Theorem

The main result in the following section - the Bochner-Schwartz-Godement theorem is required for a representation theorem for stochastic processes which will be proved in the next chapter. We prove here that positive-definite diagonally invariant kernels in  $S_0(G \times G)'$  can be represented by positive translation-bounded measures on the dual group; equivalently that every unitary representation of G in a Hilbert subspace of  $S'_0(G)$  is generated by a positive translation-bounded measure on  $\hat{G}$ . The results here are new, but similar in spirit to those in chapter 5 of [1]; section 6.3 in [16]; theorem 6, p.169 of [18] and, particularly in the case of translation-bounded bimeasures, the final theorem is essentially theorem 2.5 of [26].

Since  $(S_0, L^2, S'_0)(G)$  is a Banach Gelfand triple, every Hilbert subspace of  $S'_0(G)$  is a reproducing kernel Hilbert space with Schwartz reproducing kernel

$$\kappa(T) \in S_0'^+(G \times G).$$

 $\mathcal{H}_T$  is the completion of the subspace  $\{\overline{T}\phi: \phi \in S_0(G)\}$  of  $S'_0(G)$ , with respect to the norm

$$\|\overline{T}\phi\| = \sqrt{\langle \phi \otimes \overline{\phi}, \kappa(T) \rangle},$$

equipped with the inner product

$$\langle \overline{T}\phi | \overline{T}\psi \rangle_T = \overline{\langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \kappa(T) \rangle},$$

where the antilinear operator  $\overline{T} \in \overline{\mathcal{L}}(S_0(G), S'_0(G))$  is defined by

$$\langle \psi, \overline{T}\phi \rangle = \langle \overline{\phi} \otimes \psi, \kappa(T) \rangle.$$

The identification

$$\kappa(T) \leftrightarrow \mathcal{H}_T$$

of a Hilbert space with its reproducing kernel is an isomorphism of the cone of positive definite kernels  $S_0'^+(G \times G)$  and the cone  $Hilb(S_0'(G))$  of Hilbert subspaces of  $S_0'(G)$ . **Definition 27.** A kernel

$$\kappa(T) \in S_0(G \times G)$$

is diagonally invariant if it is invariant under the action of the diagonal subgroup  $\Delta_G$  of  $G \times G$  in the sense that

$$\langle L_x \phi \otimes L_x \overline{\psi}, \kappa(T) \rangle = \langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \kappa(T) \rangle, \forall \phi, \psi \in S_0(G), \forall x \in G.$$

It is clear that the representation

$$L_x: \overline{T}\phi \mapsto \overline{T}L_x\phi$$

of the group G in the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_T$  is unitary if and only if the Schwartz repro-

ducing kernel  $\kappa(T)$  is diagonally invariant.

**Definition 28.** A Hilbert subspace  $\mathcal{H}_T$  of  $S'_0(G)$  is translation-invariant if  $\kappa(T)$  is diagonally-invariant.

The set of diagonally-invariant kernels is obviously w\*-closed in  $S'_0(G \times G)$  and hence the set  $Hilb_{\Delta_G}(S'_0(G))$  of translation-invariant Hilbert subspaces of  $S'_0(G)$  is obviously a closed convex cone in  $Hilb(S'_0(G))$ .

The simplest example of a translation-invariant Hilbert subspace of  $S'_0(G)$  is the one-dimensional Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{\hat{x}}$  with Schwartz reproducing kernel  $\chi_{\hat{x}} \otimes \overline{\chi}_{\hat{x}}$ , which is the Fourier image of the Hilbert subspace  $L^2(\hat{G}, \delta_{\hat{x}})$  of  $S'_0(\hat{G})$ . The content of the following theorem is that every element in  $Hilb_{\Delta G}(S'_0(G))$  is obtained as a direct integral of such spaces. **Theorem 11.** (*The Bochner-Schwartz-Godement Theorem*)

 $\mathcal{H}_T \in Hilb_{\Delta G}(S'_0(G))$  if and only if there exists  $\mu_T \in T^+(\widehat{G})$  such that for  $\phi, \psi \in S_0(G)$ ,

$$\langle \overline{T}\phi | \overline{T}\psi \rangle = \int_{\widehat{G}} \overline{\widehat{\phi}}(\widehat{x}) \widehat{\psi}(\widehat{x}) d\mu_T(\widehat{x}),$$

and hence

$$\overline{T}\phi \mapsto \widehat{\phi}, \phi \in S_0(G)$$

extends to a unitary antilinear isomorphism of  $\mathcal{H}_T$  onto  $L^2(\widehat{G}, d\mu_T)$ .

*Proof.* For any  $\mu_T \in T^+(\widehat{G})$ , it is clear that  $L^2(\widehat{G}, d\mu_T)$  is  $\Delta_G$ -invariant with respect to modulation and hence that the Fourier image of  $L^2(\widehat{G}, d\mu_T)$  is translation-invariant.

Conversely, let  $\mathcal{H}_T \in Hilb_{\Delta_G}(S'_0(G))$ . Then, since  $\kappa(T)$  is diagonally-invariant,  $\overline{T}$  is a Fourier multiplier and there exists  $\sigma_T \in S'_0(G)$  such that

$$\langle \overline{T}\phi | \overline{T}\psi \rangle = \langle \sigma_T \star \overline{\phi} | \sigma_T \star \overline{\psi} \rangle$$

$$= \langle \psi, \sigma_T \star \overline{\phi} \rangle$$

$$= \langle \psi \star \phi^\star, \sigma_T \rangle.$$

Since

-

$$\langle \phi \star \phi^{\star}, \sigma_T \rangle = \|\overline{T}\phi\|^2,$$

we have that  $\sigma_T$  is a distribution of positive type and hence, by the Bochner theorem, there exists a positive translation-bounded measure  $\mu_T \in T^+(\widehat{G})$  such that

$$\langle \overline{T}\phi | \overline{T}\psi \rangle = \int_{\widehat{G}} \overline{\widehat{\phi}}(\widehat{x}) \widehat{\psi}(\widehat{x}) d\mu_T(\widehat{x}).$$

Since  $\mu_T$  is a translation-bounded measure, we have for each  $\phi \in W(\widehat{G})$  that

$$\int_{\widehat{G}} |\phi(\widehat{x})|^2 d\mu_T(\widehat{x}) < \infty$$

and since  $\mathcal{K}(\widehat{G})$  is dense in  $W(\widehat{G})$ ,  $L^2(\widehat{G}, d\mu_T)$  is the completion of  $W(\widehat{G})$  with respect to the norm thus defined. Since  $S_0(\widehat{G})$  is continuously and densely embedded into  $W(\widehat{G})$ , it is dense in  $L^2(\widehat{G}, d\mu_T)$  and hence the mapping

$$\overline{T}\phi\mapsto\widehat{\phi}$$

extends to a unitary antilinear isomorphism of  $\mathcal{H}_T$  onto  $L^2(\widehat{G}, d\mu_T)$ .

An important application of the above result is the decomposition

$$L^2(G) = \int_{\widehat{G}}^{\oplus} \mathcal{H}_{\widehat{x}} \ d\widehat{x}$$

of  $L^2(G)$  into minimal translation-invariant Hilbert subspaces of  $S'_0(G)$ ; or, equivalently the decomposition of the representation of G through translation into its irreducible components. The Schwartz reproducing kernel of  $L^2(G)$  is the convolution kernel  $\delta_0$ ; the corresponding operator is the linear embedding of  $S_0(G)$  into its dual.

## Chapter 2

# Second Order Generalised Stochastic Processes on Locally Compact Abelian Groups

## 2.1 Introduction and general concepts

The use of distributional techniques in the harmonic analysis of stochastic processes is not a new idea. The classical spaces  $S(\mathbb{R})$  and  $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R})$  and other, less familiar, spaces have been used as test function spaces in order to define generalised stochastic processes [23, 24, 25]. This approach bypasses the need for vector integration and simplifies the proof of some of the classical results of the theory of second order stochastic processes.

The representation of stochastic processes on locally compact Abelian groups as the Fourier transform of stochastic measures is considered in [27]. In this case, a lot of preparatory work is required in order to define a stochastic integral and the results are only valid for bounded stochastic measures. Furthermore, in order to justify integral representations of harmonisable processes, the theory of bimeasure integration must be considered. However, the extension of the distributional approach to stochastic

36

processes defined on a locally compact Abelian group G is not particularly straightforward since the definition of the test spaces  $\mathcal{S}(G)$  and  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  is somewhat involved and their use very unwieldy.

An ideal test function space for the harmonic analysis of stochastic processes on locally compact Abelian groups would combine the desirable properties of the Schwartz-Bruhat space  $\mathcal{S}(G)$  - in particular its Fourier invariance - with structural simplicity. The Feichtinger algebra  $S_0(G)$  is such a space. Its use as a test function space for generalised stochastic processes was first considered by Hörmann [20], who presented very concise proofs of classical results and extended results obtained by Niemi [27] using stochastic integration. However, the proof of the spectral representation theorem presented in [20] rests on two assumptions which have not been justified: "...any positive  $g \in S_0(G)$  can be written in the form  $g = f\overline{f}$ , where  $f \in S_0(G)$ " (proof of theorem 1, part c) and, secondly, given  $\sigma \in S_0(G)'$ , "....that  $\hat{\sigma}$  is positive and this is equivalent to  $\sigma$  positive definite" (proof of theorem 8). The second assumption is, in fact, the Bochner theorem for  $S_0(G)'$ , which has not been stated in [20]. Indeed, the notion of positive definite has not been defined in [20] for elements of  $S_0(G)'$ . The unjustified use of the Bochner theorem for  $S_0(G)'$  does however illustrate its importance in the proof of the spectral representation theorem for generalised stochastic processes. In the work which follows, the spectral representation theorem for generalised stochastic processes is shown essentially to be a corollary of the Bochner-Schwartz-Godement theorem, which was proved for the first time for  $S_0(G)$  in chapter 1. Furthermore, it is shown in this present work, using the fact that the time domain of a generalised stochastic process is isomorphic to a Hilbert subspace of  $S_0(G)'$ , that any generalised stochastic process with a bounded covariance bimeasure may be identified with a stochastic process. This bypasses theorem 11 of [20], the proof of which was quite technical.

We consider initially the basic concepts and results in the theory of second order stochastic processes on locally compact Abelian groups and state some of the classical results including the spectral representation theorem. This information and the notation is drawn essentially from [27].

#### 2.1.1 Second order stochastic processes

In this work, we are interested in a particular class of processes defined by complex valued random variables  $\xi$  with zero *expectation*  $\mathcal{E}\xi$  and finite variance  $\mathcal{E}|\xi|^2$  with respect to a Borel probability measure P on the locally compact space  $\Omega$ ; in other words, elements of the centred probability space

$$L_0^2(\Omega, P) = \{\xi : \mathcal{E}\xi = \int_{\Omega} \xi(\omega) dP(\omega) = 0 \text{ and } \mathcal{E}|\xi|^2 < \infty\}.$$
 (2.1.1)

**Definition 29.** A second order stochastic process X on a locally compact Abelian group G is a function

 $X: G \longrightarrow L^2_0(\Omega, P).$ 

**Definition 30.** The *realisation* of a second order stochastic process X on a locally compact Abelian group G corresponding to  $\omega \in \Omega$  is the function  $X_{\omega}$  on G, defined by

$$X_{\omega}(x) = X(x,\omega), x \in G.$$

**Definition 31.** The *correlation* of two second order stochastic processes X and Y on the locally compact Abelian group G is the function  $\sigma_{XY}$  on  $G \times G$  defined by

$$\sigma_{XY}(x,y) = \mathcal{E}X(x)Y(y).$$

The autocorrelation  $\sigma_{XX}$  of X is written  $\sigma_X$ .

\*

**Definition 32.** The *time domain*  $\mathcal{H}_X$  of a second order stochastic process X is the completion of the linear span of the set of random variables

$$\{X(x): x \in G\} \subset L^2_0(\Omega, P).$$

**Definition 33.** A stochastic measure on the locally compact Abelian group G is a continuous linear mapping Z from  $\mathcal{K}(G)$  into the space of random variables  $L^2_0(\Omega, P)$ . Given  $\phi \in \mathcal{K}(G)$ ,  $Z\phi$ , denoted

$$\int_G \phi(x) dZ(\dot{x}),$$

is a stochastic integral.

Definition 34. The dual space

$$M(G, L_0^2(\Omega, P)) = \mathcal{L}(C_0(G), L_0^2(\Omega, P))$$

of  $C_0(G) \otimes L_0^2(\Omega, P)$  is the space of bounded stochastic measures.

**Definition 35.** A stochastic measure Z is orthogonally scattered if

 $\langle Zf|Zg\rangle_{L^2_0(\Omega,P)}=0,$ 

for disjointly supported pairs of functions  $f, g \in \mathcal{K}(G)$ .

#### 2.1.3 Stationary second order stochastic processes

**Definition 36.** A second order stochastic process X is *stationary* if there exists a continuous function  $\gamma_X$  on G such that

$$\sigma_X(x,y) = \gamma_X(x-y).$$

The following theorem is the most fundamental result in the theory of second order stochastic processes. Roughly speaking, the theorem states that a stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G which is stationary may be represented by something deterministic - a positive, bounded measure on the dual group  $\widehat{G}$ .

**Theorem 12.** (The spectral representation theorem for stationary stochastic processes)

A second order stochastic process X on a locally compact Abelian group G is stationary if and only if there exists a positive bounded measure  $\mu_X$  on the dual group  $\widehat{G}$  such that for  $x, y \in G$ ,

$$\sigma_X(x,y) = \int_{\widehat{G}} \langle x - y, \widehat{x} \rangle d\mu_X(\widehat{x}).$$
(2.1.2)

Let X be a stationary stochastic process on the locally compact Abelian group G. Then there exists an orthogonally scattered bounded stochastic measure  $Z_X$  on the dual group such that

$$X(x) = \int_{\widehat{G}} \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle dZ_X(\widehat{x}).$$
(2.1.3)

In addition,

$$||Z_X\phi||_{L^2_0(\Omega)} = ||\phi||_{L^2(\widehat{G},\mu_X)}, \forall \phi \in \mathcal{K}(G)$$

and hence  $Z_X$  extends to a unitary isomorphism of the spectral domain  $L^2(\widehat{G}, \mu_X)$ onto the time domain  $\mathcal{H}_X$ .

We shall not prove the theorem since we will later prove a more general version, but will comment briefly. The autocorrelation kernel of a stationary stochastic process Xis a diagonally invariant positive-definite function and hence the representation 3.7.1 is a consequence of the classical Bochner theorem. The positive bounded measure  $\mu_X$ defined by equation 3.7.1 is the *spectral measure* of X. The stochastic measure  $Z_X$ defined by equation 2.1.3 is the *Fourier transform* or *spectral process* of X and it is clear that  $Z_X$  is a bounded measure and

$$\|Z_X\| \le \|\mu_X\|.$$

However, if the process G is not discrete,  $\widehat{G}$  is not compact and, since the characters are not compactly supported, the integral 2.1.3 has yet to be defined. We shall not dwell on the vagaries of vector valued integration at the moment as we intend to introduce an environment that bypasses the need for this.

#### 2.1.4 Harmonisable and V-bounded stochastic processes

A stationary stochastic process is the Fourier transform of a bounded, orthogonally scattered stochastic measure. A natural extension of the notion of stationarity is to consider stochastic processes which are the Fourier transform of bounded stochastic measures which are not necessarily orthogonally scattered. **Definition 37.** Stochastic processes with a representation 2.1.3 as the Fourier transform of a stochastic measure are called *harmonisable*.

**Definition 38.** Associated to a harmonisable process X is its *covariance bimeasure*  $B_X$ , defined by

$$\langle \phi \otimes \psi, B_X \rangle = \langle Z_X \phi | Z_X \psi \rangle, \phi, \psi \in C_0(G).$$

 $B_X$  is a bounded bimeasure and positive definite in the sense that

$$\langle \phi \otimes \overline{\phi}, B_X \rangle = \|Z_X \phi\|^2$$
  
  $\geq 0, \forall \phi \in C_0(\widehat{G})$ 

The autocorrelation of a harmonisable process may be expressed as the bimeasure integral

$$\sigma_X(x,y) = \int_{\widehat{G} \times \widehat{G}} \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle \overline{\langle y, \widehat{y} \rangle} dB_X(\widehat{x}, \widehat{y}).$$
(2.1.4)

Conversely, any second order stochastic process X where the autocorrelation has the representation (2.1.4) can be represented as the Fourier transform of a bounded stochastic measure and is hence harmonisable [22]. The definition of harmonisible stochastic processes used in this work corresponds to the definition of weakly harmonisable processes used by other authors [22], [27]. Strongly harmonisable processes are defined by having a covariance bimeasure which is a bounded measure on  $\hat{G} \times \hat{G}$ . Strongly harmonisable processes are clearly weakly harmonisable and, since we do not intend to work with strongly harmonisable processes here, we refer to weakly harmonisable processes simply as harmonisable.

**Definition 39.** A weakly continuous second order stochastic process X is *V*-bounded if the range of X and

$$\mathcal{C} = \{ \int_G X(x)\phi(x)dx : \|\widehat{\phi}\|_{\infty} \le 1, \phi \in L^1(G) \}$$

are bounded subsets of  $L^2_0(\Omega)$ , where

$$\int_G X(x)\phi(x)dx$$

is a Bochner integral.

The following theorem, which is theorem 4.2 of [29], states that harmonisability and V-boundedness are equivalent.

**Theorem 13.** A stochastic process X on a locally compact Abelian Group G is harmonisable if and only if it is V-bounded.

We would like to stress at this point that the validity of the representation (2.1.4) will not be justified here; we refer instead to some of the treatises on the subject of bimeasure integration. It should be noted that another shortcoming of the classical theory is that it deals only with bounded stochastic measures. We will attempt to remedy this by employing a suitable space of random variable valued test functions.

#### 2.2 Second order generalised stochastic processes

**Definition 40.** The dual of the Banach space of stochastic processes,  $S_0(G) \widehat{\otimes} L_0^2(\Omega)$ , is the space

$$(S_0(G) \otimes L_0^2(\Omega))' = \mathcal{L}(S_0(G), L_0^2(\Omega, P))$$

of generalised stochastic processes on the locally compact Abelian group G.

The definition of generalised stochastic process used here mimics that of a generalised function, or distribution, which is an element of the dual of a space of (deterministic) test functions. Previously, generalised stochastic processes have been defined to be continuous linear mappings from a function space such as  $S(\mathbb{R})$  or  $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R})$ into a space of random variables [23, 24, 25]. Use of the test function space  $S_0(G)$  in this work considerably simplifies proof of some of the classical theorems. We note that the space of generalised stochastic processes is the space of translationbounded stochastic quasimeasures and contains the space of *translation-bounded stochastic measures*,

$$(W(G)\widehat{\otimes}L_0^2(\Omega))' = \mathcal{L}(W(G), L_0^2(\Omega, P)).$$

In addition, since  $S_0(G) \widehat{\otimes} L^2_0(\Omega)$  is dense in the Hilbert space

$$L^2(G, L^2_0(\Omega, P)) = L^2(G) \otimes L^2_0(\Omega, P),$$

the triple

$$(S_0(G)\widehat{\otimes}L^2_0(\Omega), L^2(G, L^2_0(\Omega, P)), \mathcal{L}(S_0(G), L^2_0(\Omega, P)))$$

is a Banach Gelfand triple of stochastic processes.

Since

$$|\langle X'\phi|Y'\psi\rangle_{L^{2}_{0}(\Omega,P)}| \leq ||X'|| ||Y'|| ||\phi||_{S_{0}(G)} ||\psi||_{S_{0}(G)},$$

it is clear that

$$\phi \otimes \overline{\psi} \mapsto \langle X' \phi | Y' \psi \rangle_{L^2_0(\Omega, P)}$$

extends to a continuous linear functional on  $S_0(G)\widehat{\otimes}S_0(G) = S_0(G \times G)$ , which we

define to be the correlation kernel of X' and Y':

**Definition 41.** The *correlation* of two generalised stochastic processes X', Y' on the locally compact Abelian group G is the kernel

$$\sigma_{X'Y'} \in S'_0(G \times G)$$

defined by

$$\langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \sigma_{X'Y'} \rangle = \langle X' \phi | Y' \psi \rangle_{L^2(\Omega, P)}, \phi, \psi \in S_0(G).$$
(2.2.1)

**Definition 42.** The *time domain* of a generalised stochastic process X' on the locally compact Abelian group G is the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{X'} \subset L^2_0(\Omega, P)$  obtained by completion of the space of random variables

$$\{X'\phi:\phi\in S_0(G)\}.$$

-

It is clear that the autocorrelation  $\sigma_{X'} = \sigma_{X'X'}$  of any generalised stochastic process X' is a positive definite kernel and, from equation (2.2.1), that  $\mathcal{H}_{X'}$  is unitarily antilinearly isomorphic to the Hilbert subspace of  $S'_0(G)$  with reproducing kernel  $\sigma_{X'}$ .

### 2.3 The spectral process

Given a stochastic process X, we would like to define its Fourier transform  $\hat{X}$  in a way which is consistent with the (deterministic) Fourier transform - roughly speaking, we would like the Fourier transform of the realisations of the process to be equal to the realisations of the Fourier transform and which enables us to extend the definition of the Fourier transform to generalised stochastic processes. The following definition satisfies these conditions and is also consistent with the classical definition of the spectral process, defined by equation (2.1.3).

**Definition 43.** Given a stochastic process

$$X \in S_0(G) \widehat{\otimes} L^2_0(\Omega, P)$$

with a representation

$$X = \sum_{n} \phi_n \otimes \overline{\xi}_n,$$

the spectral process or Fourier transform of X is the stochastic process

$$\widehat{X} = \sum_{n} \widehat{\phi}_{n} \otimes \overline{\xi}_{n}$$

on the dual group  $\widehat{G}$ .

From the Fourier invariance of the Feichtinger algebra, it is clear that the operator

$$\mathcal{F}_G: X \mapsto \widehat{X}$$

is an isomorphism of the spaces  $S_0(G) \otimes L^2_0(\Omega, P)$  and  $S_0(\widehat{G}) \otimes L^2_0(\Omega, P)$  and hence that the Fourier transform extends by duality to an isomorphism of the respective spaces of generalised stochastic processes on G and  $\widehat{G}$ . In fact, it is clear that we can say somewhat more.

**Theorem 14.** (The Plancherel Theorem) The Fourier transform is a unitary Gelfand triple isomorphism of

$$(S_0(G)\widehat{\otimes}L^2_0(\Omega), L^2(G, L^2_0(\Omega, P)), \mathcal{L}(S_0(G), L^2_0(\Omega, P)))$$

onto

 $(S_0(\widehat{G})\widehat{\otimes}L^2_0(\Omega), L^2(\widehat{G}, L^2_0(\Omega, P)), \mathcal{L}(S_0(\widehat{G}), L^2_0(\Omega, P))).$ 

## 2.4 Stationary second order generalised stochastic processes and the spectral representation theorem

**Definition 44.** A second order generalised stochastic process X' on a locally compact Abelian group G is *stationary* if its autocorrelation  $\sigma_{X'}$  is diagonally invariant, ie

$$\langle L_x \phi \otimes L_x \overline{\psi}, \sigma_{X'} \rangle = \langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \sigma_{X'} \rangle, \forall x \in G, \forall \phi, \psi \in S_0(G).$$
(2.4.1)

**Definition 45.** A generalised stochastic process X' is orthogonally scattered if

 $X'\phi \perp X'\psi$ ,

for any pair of functions  $\phi, \psi \in S_0(G)$  which are disjointly supported.

The following proposition shows that an orthogonally scattered generalised stochastic process may be characterised by the support of its autocorrelation. The proof is adapted from [20]

**Proposition 17.** Let X' be a generalised stochastic process on the locally compact Abelian group G.

X' is orthogonally scattered  $\iff$  supp  $\sigma_{X'} \subset \Delta_G$ .

Proof. Since

 $supp \ f \cap supp \ g = \emptyset \iff supp(f \otimes g) \cap \Delta_G = \emptyset,$ 

it is obvious that a generalised stochastic process with an autocorrelation supported on the diagonal is orthogonally scattered. Conversely, let X' be orthogonally scattered. Given  $\sigma \in S_0(G \times G)$  such that supp  $\sigma$  is compact and supp  $\sigma \cap \Delta_G = \emptyset$ , pick a compact neighbourhood U of the identity in  $G \times G$  such that

$$(K+U) \cap \Delta_G = \emptyset$$

and a compact neighbourhood V of the identity in G such that

$$V \times V \subset U.$$

Then, given any V-BUPU  $\{\psi_i\}_{i \in I}$ , there exist finite subsets  $I_{\sigma}, J_{\sigma} \subset I$  such that

$$\sigma = \sum_{i \in I_{\sigma}, j \in I_{\sigma}} \psi_i \otimes \psi_j \sigma$$

and

$$supp(\psi_i \otimes \psi_j) \cap \Delta_G = \emptyset, \forall \ (i,j) \in I_\sigma \times J_\sigma.$$

Hence, given any representation

$$\sigma = \sum_{n} f_n \otimes g_n \in S_0(G) \widehat{\otimes} S_0(G),$$

we have

$$\sigma = \sum_{i \in I_{\sigma}, j \in J_{\sigma}, n} \psi_i f_n \otimes \psi_j g_n,$$

with

$$supp(\psi_i f_n \otimes \psi_j g_n) \cap \Delta_G = \emptyset, \forall i \in I_{\sigma,j} \in J_{\sigma}, n$$

Hence

 $\langle \sigma, \sigma_{X'} \rangle = 0.$ 

We are now in a position to state and prove the spectral representation theorem.

**Theorem 15.** (The spectral representation theorem for stationary second order stochastic processes on locally compact Abelian groups)

Let X' be a second order generalised stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G.

1. X' is stationary if and only if there exists a unique positive, translation-bounded measure  $\mu_{X'} \in T^+(\widehat{G})$  such that  $\forall \phi, \psi \in S_0(G)$ ,

$$\langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \sigma_{X'} \rangle = \int_{\widehat{G}} \widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x}) \overline{\widehat{\psi}}(\widehat{x}) d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}).$$
(2.4.2)

- 2. X' is stationary if and only if the spectral process  $\widehat{X'}$  is an orthogonally scattered translation-bounded stochastic measure.
- 3. If X' is stationary, then

$$\|\widehat{X'}\phi\| = (\int_{\widehat{G}} |\phi(\widehat{x})|^2 d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}))^{1/2}, \forall \phi \in S_0(\widehat{G})$$

and hence  $\widehat{X'}$  extends to a unitary isomorphism of  $L^2(\widehat{G}, \mu_{X'})$  and the time domain  $\mathcal{H}_{X'}$ .

- *Proof.* 1. A generalised stochastic process whose autocorrelation kernel can be represented as in (2.4.2) is obviously stationary. Conversely, it is clear that the autocorrelation of a stationary generalised stochastic process is a positive-definite diagonally-invariant kernel and the representation 2.4.2 follows from the Bochner-Schwartz-Godement theorem.
  - 2. The chain of equivalences

$$\begin{array}{lll} X' \text{ is stationary} & \Longleftrightarrow & \sigma_{X'} \text{ is } \Delta_G - \text{invariant} \\ & \Leftrightarrow & supp \mathcal{F}_{G \times G} \sigma_{X'} \subset \Delta_G^{\perp} \\ & \Leftrightarrow & supp \mathcal{F}_G \otimes \overline{\mathcal{F}}_G \sigma_{X'} \subset \Delta_{\widehat{G}} \\ & \Leftrightarrow & supp \sigma_{\widehat{X'}} \subset \Delta_{\widehat{G}} \end{array}$$

shows that that  $\widehat{X'}$  is orthogonally scattered if and only if X' is stationary. Given X' is stationary, for any  $\phi \in S_0(\widehat{G})$ , we have

$$\|\bar{X}^{\prime}\phi\|_{L^{2}_{0}(\Omega)}^{2} \leq \|\mu_{X^{\prime}}\|_{T}\|\phi\|_{W(\widehat{G})}^{2},$$

and hence, from the density of  $S_0(\widehat{G})$  in  $W(\widehat{G})$ , it is clear that  $\widehat{X'}$  extends to an orthogonally scattered translation-bounded stochastic measure.

3. Since  $\mathcal{H}_{X'}$  is antilinearly unitarily isomorphic to the Hilbert subspace of  $S'_0(G)$  with reproducing kernel  $\sigma_{X'}$ , the final part of the theorem follows from the Bochner-Schwartz-Godement theorem.

**Definition 46.** The measure  $\mu_{X'} \in T^+(\widehat{G})$  associated to a stationary generalised stochastic process X' is called the *spectral measure*. The Hilbert space  $L^2(\widehat{G}, \mu_{X'})$  is the *spectral domain* of the process X'.

We consider now the relationship between generalised stochastic processes and stochastic processes. In particular, we would like to derive the classical spectral representation theorem for stationary stochastic processes from the equivalent theorem for generalised stochastic processes. In order to do so, we must decide when a stochastic process and a generalised stochastic process can be identified. The following two propositions, which are original, show that a stationary generalised stochastic process can be identified with a (classical) stationary stochastic process if and only if its spectral measure is bounded. This could be considered to be a special case of theorem 11 of [20].

The next proposition shows that every stationary stochastic process generates a generalised stochastic process with the same time domain.

**Proposition 18.** Let X be a stationary stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G with spectral measure  $\mu_X$ . For each  $\phi \in S_0(G)$ , let

$$X'\phi = \int_G Xx\phi(x)dx,$$

where the integral is interpreted weakly. Then,

X' is a stationary generalised stochastic process with spectral measure μ<sub>X</sub>.
 H<sub>X</sub> = H<sub>X'</sub>.

*Proof.* 1. The estimate

$$\begin{split} \|X'\phi\|_{L^{2}_{0}(\Omega,P)} &= \sup\{|\int_{G} \langle Xx|\xi\rangle\phi(x)dx| : \|\xi\|_{L^{2}_{0}(\Omega,P)} \leq 1\}\\ &\leq \|Xx\|\int_{G} |\phi(x)|dx\\ &\leq \|\mu_{X}\|_{M(\widehat{G})}^{1/2} \|\phi\|_{S_{0}(G)} \end{split}$$

shows that X' is a generalised stochastic process. Furthermore, since for  $\phi, \psi \in$ 

 $S_0(G),$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \langle X'\phi|X'\psi\rangle &= \langle \int_G Xx\phi(x)dx| \int_G Xx\psi(x)dx\rangle \\ &= \int_{G\times G} \langle Xx|Xy\rangle\phi(x)\overline{\psi}(y)dxdy \\ &= \langle\phi\otimes\overline{\psi},\sigma_X\rangle, \end{aligned}$$

X' is stationary with spectral measure  $\mu_X$ .

2. We show that, for every  $\phi \in S_0(G)$ ,  $X'\phi$  may be norm approximated by an absolutely convergent sum of elements of  $\mathcal{H}_X$  and is hence in  $\mathcal{H}_X$ .

Let U be a compact neighbourhood of the identity in G and  $\{\psi_i\}_{i\in I}$  be a U-BUPU in  $S_0(G)$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} \|X'\phi - \sum_{i \in I} \int_{x_i+U} \phi(x)\psi_i(x)dx Xx_i\| &= \|\sum_{i \in I} \int_{x_i+U} (Xx - Xx_i)\phi(x)\psi_i(x)dx\| \\ &\leq \sum_{i \in I} \int_{x_i+U} \|Xx - Xx_i\| |\phi(x)|\psi_i(x)dx| \end{aligned}$$

Now, for  $x \in x_i + U$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \|Xx - Xx_i\|^2 &= \langle Xx|Xx \rangle + \langle Xx_i|Xx_i \rangle - \langle Xx|Xx_i \rangle - \langle Xx_i|Xx \rangle \\ &\leq 2sup_{x \in (x_i+U)} |\tilde{\sigma}_X(0) - \tilde{\sigma}_X(x-x_i)| \\ &= 2sup_{x \in U} |\tilde{\sigma}_X(0) - \tilde{\sigma}_X(x)|. \end{aligned}$$

Since  $\tilde{\sigma}_X$  is the Fourier transform of a positive bounded measure, it is uniformly continuous and hence

$$\lim_{U\to e} \|X'\phi - \sum_{i\in I} \int_{x_i+U} \phi(x)\psi_i(x)dxXx_i\| = 0.$$

Since

$$\sum_{i \in I} \| \int_{x_i+U} \phi(x)\psi_i(x)dx Xx_i \| \leq \sum_{i \in I} \int_{x_i+U} |\phi(x)|\psi_i(x)dx \| Xx_i \| \\ \leq \|\phi\|_{S_0(G)} \|\mu_X\|_{M(\widehat{G})}^{1/2},$$

we hence have

 $X'\phi \in \mathcal{H}_X.$ 

50

To complete the proof, we show that  $\mathcal{H}_{X'}$  is total in  $\mathcal{H}_X$ . For  $x \in G$  and  $\phi \in S_0(G)$ ,

$$\langle Xx|X'\phi\rangle = \int_G \sigma_X(x,y)\overline{\phi}(y)dy)dy$$

and hence we have that Xx is orthogonal to  $\mathcal{H}_{X'}$  if and only if the function

 $y \mapsto \sigma_X(x,y)$ 

is the zero element in  $S'_0(G)$ . Equivalently, since  $\mathcal{H}_{X'}$  is unitarily isomorphic to the dual of a Hilbert subspace of  $S'_0(G)$ , we have that Xx is orthogonal to  $\mathcal{H}_{X'}$  if and only if Xx = 0.

**Definition 47.** A generalised stochastic process X' may be *identified with a stochastic process* X if X generates X' in the sense of proposition 18.

We now show the converse of proposition 18 - that every stationary generalised stochastic process with a bounded spectral measure can, in fact, be identified with a stochastic process.

**Proposition 19.** Let X' be a stationary generalised stochastic process with bounded spectral measure  $\mu_{X'}$ . Then,  $\widehat{X'}$  is a bounded measure and X' may be identified with a stochastic process with range in  $\mathcal{H}_{X'}$ .

*Proof.* Given  $\phi \in S_0(\widehat{G})$ ,

$$\|\widehat{X'}\phi\| = (\int_{\widehat{G}} |\phi(\widehat{x})|^2 d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}))^{1/2} \\ \leq \|\phi\|_{\infty} \|\mu_{X'}\|_{M(\widehat{G})}^{1/2}$$

and hence by the density of  $S_0(\widehat{G})$  in  $C_0(\widehat{G})$ ,  $\widehat{X'}$  extends to a bounded measure on  $\widehat{G}$ . Given  $\phi \in S_0(G)$ , the estimate

$$\begin{aligned} |\int_{\widehat{G}} \widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x}) \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x})| &\leq (\int_{\widehat{G}} |\widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x})|^2 d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}))^{1/2} (\int_{\widehat{G}} d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}))^{1/2} \\ &= \|X' \phi\| \|\mu_{X'}\|_{M(\widehat{G})}^{1/2} \end{aligned}$$

shows that

$$X'\phi\mapsto \int_{\widehat{G}}\widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x})\langle x,\widehat{x}\rangle d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x})$$

is an element of  $\mathcal{H}'_{X'}$  and hence that  $Xx \in \mathcal{H}_{X'}$ , where

$$\langle X'\phi|Xx\rangle = \int_{\widehat{G}}\widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x})\langle x,\widehat{x}\rangle d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}).$$

Given  $\phi, \psi \in S_0(G)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \langle X'\phi| \int_{G} Xx\psi(x)dx \rangle &= \int_{G} \int_{\widehat{G}} \widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x}) \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}) \overline{\psi}(x)dx \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}} \widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x}) \int_{G} \overline{\psi}(x) \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle dx d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}) \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}} \widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x}) \overline{\widehat{\psi}}(\widehat{x}) d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}) \\ &= \langle X'\phi| X'\psi \rangle \end{aligned}$$

and hence we have that

$$X'\phi = \int_G Xx\phi(x)dx, \forall \phi \in S_0(G),$$

as required.

#### 2.5 White noise

**Definition 48.** The stationary generalised stochastic process whose spectral measure is  $1_{\hat{G}}$ , the Haar measure of the dual group, is called *white noise* and is denoted by W.

For  $\phi, \psi \in S_0(G)$ , we have

$$\langle W\phi|W\psi
angle = \int_{\widehat{G}}\widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x})\overline{\widehat{\psi}}(\widehat{x})d\widehat{x}$$

and hence the associated spectral domain is  $L^2(\widehat{G})$ . The spectral process  $\widehat{W}$  is also a stationary stochastic process with spectral measure  $1_G$  - in other words,  $\widehat{W}$  is white noise on the dual group  $\widehat{G}$ . White noise is important in the synthesis of stochastic processes through filtering. We will consider this at a later stage.

## 2.6 Harmonisable and V-bounded generalised stochastic processes

The following definition is a new generalisation of the definition of a harmonisable stochastic process.

**Definition 49.** A generalised stochastic process X' is *Harmonisable* if  $\widehat{X'}$  is a translationbounded stochastic measure.

The covariance bimeasure of a harmonisable stochastic process is bounded which implies that the spectral process is a bounded stochastic measure. The spectral process of a generalised stochastic process is, however, not necessarily bounded, but the covariance bimeasure is translation bounded, which is the content of the next proposition.

**Proposition 20.** A generalised stochastic process X' is harmonisable if and only if the autocorrelation kernel  $\sigma_{X'}$  has the representation

$$\langle \widehat{\phi} \otimes \widehat{\psi}, \sigma_{X'} \rangle = \langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, B_{X'} \rangle, \phi, \psi \in S_0(\widehat{G}), \tag{2.6.1}$$

where  $B_{X'}$  is a translation-bounded bimeasure.

*Proof.* Let the generalised stochastic process X' be harmonisable. Then  $\widehat{X'}$  is a translation-bounded stochastic measure, and it is clear that

$$B_{X'}: \phi \otimes \overline{\psi} \mapsto \langle \widehat{X'} \phi | \widehat{X'} \psi \rangle, \phi, \psi \in W(\widehat{G}),$$

defines a translation-bounded bimeasure. The representation 2.6.1 then follows.

Conversely, let the autocorrelation of the generalised stochastic process X' be represented as in equation 2.6.1, where  $B_{X'}$  is a translation-bounded bimeasure. Then, for  $\phi \in S_0(\widehat{G})$ ,

$$\|\widehat{X'}\phi\|^2 = \langle \phi \otimes \overline{\phi}, B_{X'} \rangle.$$

Hence

$$\|\widehat{X'}\phi\| \le \|\phi\|_{W(\widehat{G})} \|B_{X'}\|_{TBM}^{1/2}, \forall \phi \in S_0(\widehat{G}),$$

and, since  $S_0(\widehat{G})$  is dense in  $W(\widehat{G})$ , it is clear that  $\widehat{X'}$  extends to a translation-bounded stochastic measure on  $\widehat{G}$ .

We now consider the relationship between harmonisable stochastic processes and harmonisable generalised stochastic processes. We show in the next two propositions, using original methods that bypass the use of theorem 11 of [20], that a harmonisable generalised stochastic process, is a (harmonisable) stochastic process if and only if its covariance bimeasure is bounded.

**Proposition 21.** Let X be a harmonisable stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G. For  $\phi \in S_0(G)$ , let

$$X'\phi = \int_G Xx\phi(x)dx,$$

where the integral is interpreted weakly. Then

1. X' is a harmonisable generalised stochastic process with covariance bimeasure  $B_X$ .

2.  $\mathcal{H}_{X'} = \mathcal{H}_X$ .

*Proof.* 1. For  $\phi \in S_0(G)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \|X'\phi\| &\leq \int_G \|Xx\| |\phi(x)| dx \\ &\leq \sup_{x \in G} \|Xx\| \int_G |\phi(x)| dx \\ &\leq \|\sigma_X\|_{\infty}^{1/2} \|\phi\|_{S_0(G)} \\ &\leq \|B_X\|_{BM}^{1/2} \|\phi\|_{S_0(G)}, \end{aligned}$$

which shows that X' is a generalised stochastic process. For  $\hat{\phi}, \hat{\psi} \in S_0(G)$ ,

$$\begin{array}{lll} \langle X'\widehat{\phi}|X'\widehat{\psi}\rangle &=& \langle \int_{G} Xx\widehat{\phi}(x)dx|\int_{G} Xx\widehat{\psi}(x)dx\rangle \\ &=& \int_{G\times G} \langle Xx|Xy\rangle\widehat{\phi}(x)\overline{\widehat{\psi}}(y)dxdy \\ &=& \int_{G\times G} \langle Xx|Xy\rangle\phi(x)\psi(y)axay \\ &=& \langle \widehat{\phi}\otimes\overline{\widehat{\psi}},\sigma_X\rangle \\ &=& \langle \phi\otimes\overline{\psi},B_X\rangle, \end{array}$$

as required.

$$\langle Xx|X'\widehat{\phi}\rangle = \int_{G} \sigma_{X}(x,y)\overline{\phi}(y)dy \\ = \mathcal{F}_{\widehat{G}}B_{X}\overline{\phi}(x)$$

and hence

$$\begin{split} X'\widehat{\phi} \perp Xx, \forall x \in G &\Rightarrow \mathcal{F}_{\widehat{G}}B_X\overline{\phi}(x) = 0, \forall x \in G \\ &\Rightarrow B_X\overline{\phi} = 0 \\ &\Rightarrow X'\phi = 0, \end{split}$$

since the time domain  $\mathcal{H}_{X'}$  is unitarily isomorphic to  $\mathcal{H}_{B_X}$ , whose dual is a Hilbert subspace of  $S'_0(G)$ .

Conversely,

$$Xx \perp X'\widehat{\phi}, \forall \widehat{\phi} \in S_0(G)$$

implies that the function

$$y \mapsto \sigma_X(x,y)$$

is the zero element in  $S'_0(G)$  and hence that Xx = 0.

We now show a converse to the above proposition.

**Proposition 22.** Let X' be a harmonisable generalised stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G. If the covariance bimeasure  $B_{X'}$  is bounded, then  $\widehat{X'}$  is a bounded measure and X' can be identified with a (harmonisable) stochastic process with range in  $\mathcal{H}_{X'}$ .

*Proof.* For  $\phi \in S_0(\widehat{G})$ ,

$$\|\widehat{X'}\phi\|^2 = \langle \phi \otimes \overline{\phi}, B_{X'} \rangle$$

and hence, if  $B_{X'}$  is bounded,

$$\|\widehat{X'}\phi\| \le \|\phi\|_{\infty} \|B_{X'}\|_{BM}^{1/2},$$

and, since  $S_0(\widehat{G})$  is dense in  $C_0(\widehat{G})$ ,  $\widehat{X'}$  extends to a bounded measure on  $\widehat{G}$ .

Given  $\widehat{\phi} \in S_0(G)$ , the estimate

$$\begin{split} |\int_{\widehat{G}\times\widehat{G}}\phi(\widehat{x})\overline{\langle x,\widehat{y}\rangle}dB_{X'}(\widehat{x},\widehat{y})| &= |\int_{\widehat{G}}\overline{\langle x,\widehat{y}\rangle}dB_{X'}(\phi)(\widehat{y})| \\ &= |\mathcal{F}_{\widehat{G}}B_{X'}(\phi)(x)| \\ &\leq ||B_{X'}(\phi)||_{M(\widehat{G})} \\ &= sup\{|\langle\overline{\psi},B_{X'}(\phi)\rangle|:\psi\in S_{0}(\widehat{G}), \|\psi\|_{\infty}\leq 1\} \\ &= sup\{|\langle\overline{W},\Theta_{X'}\rangle|:\psi\in S_{0}(\widehat{G}), \|\psi\|_{\infty}\leq 1\} \\ &= sup\{|\langle\widehat{X'}\phi|\widehat{X'}\psi\rangle|:\psi\in S_{0}(\widehat{G}), \|\psi\|_{\infty}\leq 1\} \\ &\leq ||\widehat{X'}\phi|||\widehat{X'}|| \\ &\leq ||X'\widehat{\phi}|||\widehat{X'}||, \end{split}$$

where  $\|\widehat{X'}\|$  is the bounded stochastic measure norm of  $\widehat{X'}$ , shows that

$$X'\widehat{\phi} \mapsto \int_{\widehat{G}\times\widehat{G}} \phi(\widehat{x}) \overline{\langle x, \widehat{y} \rangle} dB_{X'}(\widehat{x}, \widehat{y})$$

is an element of  $\mathcal{H}'_{X'}$ . Given  $x \in G$ ,  $Xx \in \mathcal{H}_{X'}$  defined by

$$\langle X'\widehat{\phi}|Xx\rangle = \int_{\widehat{G}\times\widehat{G}} \phi(\widehat{x})\overline{\langle x,\widehat{y}\rangle} dB_{X'}(\widehat{x},\widehat{y}), \forall \widehat{\phi} \in S_0(G),$$

determines a stochastic process X on G with range in  $\mathcal{H}_{X'}$ . We show now that X generates X'. Given  $\widehat{\phi}, \widehat{\psi} \in S_0(G)$ ,

$$\begin{split} \langle X'\widehat{\phi}| \int_{G} Xx\widehat{\psi}(x)dx \rangle &= \int_{G} \langle X'\widehat{\phi}|Xx \rangle \overline{\widehat{\psi}}(x)dx \\ &= \int_{G} \int_{\widehat{G}\times\widehat{G}} \phi(\widehat{x})\overline{\langle x,\widehat{y} \rangle} dB_{X'}(\widehat{x},\widehat{y})\overline{\widehat{\psi}}(x)dx \\ &= \int_{G} \int_{\widehat{G}} \overline{\langle x,\widehat{y} \rangle} dB_{X'}(\phi)(\widehat{y})\overline{\widehat{\psi}}(x)dx \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}} \int_{G} \overline{\widehat{\psi}}(x)\overline{\langle x,\widehat{y} \rangle} dx dB_{X'}(\phi)(\widehat{y}) \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}} \overline{\psi}(\widehat{y}) dB_{X'}(\phi)(\widehat{y}) \\ &= \langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, B_{X'} \rangle \\ &= \langle X'\widehat{\phi}|X'\widehat{\psi} \rangle \end{split}$$

 $X'\phi = \int_G Xx\phi(x)dx, \forall \phi \in S_0(G),$ 

and hence

as required.

We show finally that X is harmonisable.

$$\begin{aligned} \langle X'\widehat{\phi}|X'\widehat{\psi}\rangle &= \langle \int_{G} Xx\widehat{\phi}(x)dx| \int_{G} Xx\widehat{\psi}(x)dx\rangle \\ &= \int_{G\times G} \widehat{\phi}(x)\overline{\widehat{\psi}}(y)\langle Xx|Xy\rangle dxdy \end{aligned}$$

Hence,

$$\langle \widehat{\phi} \otimes \widehat{\psi}, \sigma_X \rangle = \langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, B_{X'} \rangle,$$

which shows that X is harmonisable.

**Definition 50.** A generalised stochastic process X' on a locally compact Abelian group G is *V*-bounded if the set

$$\mathcal{C}_{X'} = \{ X'\phi : \phi \in S_0(G), \|\phi\|_{\infty} \le 1 \}$$
(2.6.2)

is bounded.

**Proposition 23.** Let X' be a generalised stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G.

X' is V-bounded  $\iff X$  is a harmon isable stochastic process.

*Proof.* Since  $S_0(\widehat{G})$  is dense in  $C_0(G)$ , it is clear that that the set of random variables  $\mathcal{C}_{X'}$  is bounded if and only if  $\widehat{X'}$  is a bounded stochastic measure.

In fact, if we replace the Bochner integral by a weak integral in the definition of a V-bounded stochastic process as in definition 3.1.1 of [27], it is clear from the density of  $S_0(G)$  in  $L^1(G)$ , that every V-bounded stochastic process may be identified with a a V-bounded generalised stochastic process and vice-versa. Hence, we have proved the following proposition, which is theorem 3.2.1 of [27].

**Proposition 24.** Let X be a stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group. Then

X is V-bounded  $\iff \widehat{X}$  is a harmonisable stochastic process.

### 2.7 Filtered generalised stochastic processes

The space of generalised stochastic processes  $\mathcal{L}(S_0(G), L_0^2(\Omega, P))$  on the locally compact Abelian group G is a right Banach  $\mathcal{L}(S_0(G))$ -module. Given a generalised stochastic process X' and  $T \in \mathcal{L}(S_0(G))$ , we denote by  $\tilde{T}X'$  the generalised stochastic process

$$\phi \mapsto X'T\phi$$

and call this process X' filtered by T.

Two subalgebras of  $\mathcal{L}(S_0(G))$  are of particular interest as regards the filtering of generalised stochastic processes - the modulation spaces

$$M_{1,\infty}(G) = W(A, l^{\infty})(G)$$

and

$$M_{\infty,1}(G) = W(A', l^1)(G).$$

The convolution algebra  $M_{\infty,1}(G)$  is the space of *time-invariant filters*. We define the convolution of  $\mu \in M_{\infty,1}(G)$  with the generalised stochastic process X' by transposition in the sense that

$$\mu \star X' \phi = X' \tilde{\mu} \star \phi.$$

 $M_{\infty,1}(G)$  contains M(G) and, in particular, it contains the Dirac measures. For  $x \in G$ , we have

$$\delta_{-x} \star X' \phi = X' L_x \phi.$$

The function algebra  $M_{1,\infty}(G)$  is the space of *frequency invariant* filters and is the Fourier image of  $M_{\infty,1}(\widehat{G})$ ; in particular, it contains the characters. The generalised stochastic process X', filtered by  $\psi \in M_{1,\infty}(G)$  is the generalised stochastic process defined by

$$\psi X'\phi = X'\psi\phi.$$

The Fourier transform  $\widehat{T}$  of an operator  $T \in \mathcal{L}(S_0(G))$  is defined by transposition in the sense that, for  $\widehat{\phi} \in S_0(G)$ ,

$$\widehat{T}\phi = T\widehat{\phi}.$$

It is the clear that the following is true for any  $T \in \mathcal{L}(S_0(G))$  and any generalised stochastic process X':

$$\widehat{TX'} = \widehat{T}\widehat{X'}.$$

In particular, for any  $\mu \in M_{\infty,1}(G)$  and any generalised stochastic process X', we have that

$$\widehat{\mu \star X'} = \widehat{\mu}\widehat{X'}.$$

**Proposition 25.** Let W denote white noise on a locally compact Abelian group G. Then, the mapping

 $T\mapsto TW$ 

is a unitary isomorphism of  $\mathcal{HS}(L^2(G))$  onto  $L^2(G, L^2_0(\Omega, P))$ .

*Proof.* Let S, T be elements of the operator algebra  $\mathcal{B}$ . Then, if we denote the identity operator corresponding to white noise by I, we have

$$SW|TW\rangle = trSIT^{\star}$$
  
=  $\langle S|T\rangle$ 

and hence, from the density of  $\mathcal{B}$  in  $\mathcal{HS}(L^2(G))$ , the mapping  $T \mapsto TW$  extends to a unitary isomorphism of  $\mathcal{HS}(L^2(G))$  into  $L^2(G, L^2_0(\Omega, P))$ .

We complete the proof by showing that the mapping is a surjection. If we write

$$L^2(G, L^2_0(\Omega, P)) = L^2(G) \otimes L^2_0(\Omega, P).$$

then it is clear that we have the following identification:

$$L^2(G, L^2_0(\Omega, P)) = \mathcal{HS}(L^2(G), L^2_0(\Omega, P)).$$

Hence, given  $X' \in L^2(G, L^2_0(\Omega, P))$ ,  $X'^*X'$  is a positive, trace class operator in  $L^2(G)$ . The positive square root of  $X'^*X'$  is an element of  $\mathcal{HS}(L^2(G))$  which we denote by  $P_{X'}$ . Then

$$\langle P_{X'}W|P_{X'}W\rangle = tr P_{X'}P_{X'}^*$$
  
=  $tr X'^*X'.$ 

which completes the proof.

White noise is used to synthesise stationary stochastic processes through timeinvariant filtering. The proof of the following proposition is a matter of routine.

**Proposition 26.** Given  $\mu \in M_{\infty,1}(G)$ , the filtered white noise process  $\mu \star W$  is stationary with spectral measure  $|\hat{\mu}|^2 1_{\widehat{G}}$ .

## Chapter 3

# Multidimensional Second Order Generalised Stochastic Processes on Locally Compact Abelian Groups

### 3.1 Introduction

We extend the results of the theory of scalar generalised stochastic processes on locally compact Abelian groups to infinite dimensional processes - ie processes which are defined using Hilbert space valued random variables. This results in much shorter and more transparent proofs of results obtained by Kakihara in [22]. In particular, the theory of stochastic measures and operator valued bimeasures developed by Kakihara is bypassed by again using  $S_0(G)$  as a test function space and exploiting its remarkable properties. In this present work, an extended spectral representation theorem for multidimensional generalised stochastic processes on locally compact Abelian groups is proved. This requires a Bochner theorem for  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -valued distributions, where  $\mathcal{H}$ is an separable, infinite dimensional Hilbert space. In order to prove the Bochner theorem, an operator valued Fourier transform is defined and some preparatory results proved. Conditions are defined for a stationary multidimensional generalised stochastic process to be identified with a stochastic process. Harmonisable multidimensional generalised stochastic processes are investigated and representation theorems proved. All material in this chapter, except where indicated, is original. We begin with some background material taken from [22] on normal Hilbert  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -modules, which are very useful in describing infinite dimensional stochastic processes.

## 3.2 Normal Hilbert $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -Modules

Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a separable Hilbert space.

**Definition 51.** A normal pre-Hilbert  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module is a left  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module  $\mathcal{Y}$ , equipped with a mapping,

$$[,]: \mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y} \longrightarrow \tau(\mathcal{H}),$$

the grammian, which satisfies the following conditions: for  $X, Y, Z \in \mathcal{Y}$  and  $T \in L(\mathcal{H})$ ,

- 1.  $[X, X] \ge 0$  and  $[X, X] = 0 \iff X = 0;$
- 2. [X + Y, Z] = [X, Z] + [Y, Z];
- 3. [TX, Y] = T[X, Y];
- 4.  $[Y, X] = [X, Y]^*$

A normal pre-Hilbert  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module which is complete with respect to the norm

$$||X|| = \sqrt{||[X, X]||_{\tau(\mathcal{H})}},$$

is a normal Hilbert  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module.

We will use the following version of the Schwartz inequality which is lemma 2, p.18 of [22].

**Proposition 27.** Let  $\mathcal{Y}$  be a normal  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module. Then, for  $X, Y \in \mathcal{Y}$ ,

$$||[X,Y]||_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} \le ||X||_{\mathcal{Y}} ||Y||_{\mathcal{Y}}.$$

**Definition 52.** Let  $\mathcal{Y}$  and  $\mathcal{Z}$  be normal  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -modules.

1. A bounded linear operator

$$T \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{Z})$$

which commutes with the module action of  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$  is a module homomorphism from  $\mathcal{Y}$  into  $\mathcal{Z}$ .

- 2. A module homomorphism which preserves the grammian is a *grammian unitary isomorphism*.
- 3. Let  $\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{Z}$  be normal Hilbert  $\mathcal{H}$  modules.  $\mathcal{Y}$  and  $\mathcal{Z}$  are grammian unitarily isomorphic if there exists a grammian unitary isomorphism of  $\mathcal{Y}$  onto  $\mathcal{Z}$ .
- 4. A module homomorphism from  $\mathcal{Y}$  into  $\tau(\mathcal{H})$  is a bounded linear functional on  $\mathcal{Y}$ .

It is clear from the Schwartz inequality that every element Z of a normal  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -

module  $\mathcal{Y}$  defines a bounded linear functional

$$\Lambda_Z: Y \mapsto [Y, Z].$$

The converse is the Riesz representation theorem, which is proposition 6, p.25 of [22].

**Proposition 28.** (The Riesz Representation Theorem) Let Z' be a bounded linear functional on a normal Hilbert  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module  $\mathcal{Y}$ . Then there exists a unique  $Z \in \mathcal{Y}$  such that

$$Z'(Y) = [Y, Z], \forall Y \in \mathcal{Y}.$$

and

$$||Z'|| = ||Z||.$$

**Definition 53.** A trace class operator valued measure on a locally compact Abelian group G is a continuous linear mapping

$$\mu: \mathcal{K}(G) \longrightarrow \tau(\mathcal{H}).$$

For  $\phi \in \mathcal{K}(G)$ , we denote the trace class operator  $\mu(\phi)$  by

$$\int_G \phi(x) d\mu(x)$$

and say  $\mu$  is *positive* if, for all positive  $\phi \in \mathcal{K}(G)$ ,

$$\int_{G} \phi(x) d\mu(x) \in \tau(\mathcal{H})^{+},$$

where  $\tau(\mathcal{H})^+$  denotes the positive trace class operators.
**Example 1.** Let  $\mu$  be a positive trace class operator valued Radon measure on the locally compact Abelian group G. Then, for each  $\phi \in \mathcal{K}(G)$ , we have that  $\phi\mu$  is a trace class operator valued measure, where, for any  $\psi \in \mathcal{K}(G)$ ,

$$\int_{G} \psi(x) d\phi \mu(x) = \int_{G} \psi(x) \phi(x) d\mu(x).$$

If, for  $T \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$  and  $\phi, \psi \in \mathcal{K}(G)$ ,

$$\int_{G} \psi(x) dT \phi \mu(x) = T \int_{G} \psi(x) \phi(x) d\mu(x),$$

then the set of trace class operator valued Radon measures

$$\{T\phi\mu:\phi\in\mathcal{K}(G), T\in\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})\}\$$

is an  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module which becomes a normal pre-Hilbert  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module when equipped with the grammian

$$[S\phi\mu, T\psi\mu] = S \int_{G} \phi(x)\overline{\psi}(x)d\mu(x)T^{*}.$$

The normal Hilbert  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module obtained through completion is denoted  $L^2(G,\mu)$ .

For further information on normal Hilbert  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -modules we refer to [22].

### 3.3 Multidimensional second order stochastic processes

We review some of the basic definitions and results on multidimensional stochastic processes from [22].

Let  $\Omega$  be a locally compact space equipped with a Radon probability measure P. Second order processes are defined by the space of Hilbert space valued random variables

$$L^{2}(\Omega, \mathcal{H}, P) = \{\xi : \Omega \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}; \int_{\Omega} \|\xi(\omega)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} dP(w) < \infty\}.$$

Zero mean stochastic processes take values in the space of centred Hilbert space valued random variables

$$L_0^2(\Omega, \mathcal{H}, P) = \{\xi \in L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{H}, P) : \mathcal{E}\xi = \int_{\Omega} \xi(\omega) dP(\omega) = 0\},\$$

which we denote by  $\mathcal{X}$ , for brevity.  $\mathcal{X}$ , equipped with the grammian

$$[\xi_1,\xi_2] = \int_{\Omega} \xi_1(\omega) \otimes \xi_2(\omega)^* dP(\omega),$$

is a normal Hilbert  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module.

**Definition 54.** A multidimensional second order stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G is a function  $X : G \longrightarrow \mathcal{X}$ .

**Definition 55.** 1. The operator correlation of two multidimensional second order stochastic processes X and Y on a locally compact Abelian group G is the function

$$\Gamma_{XY}: G \times G \longrightarrow \tau(\mathcal{H}); \Gamma_{XY}(x, y) = [Xx, Yy].$$

2. The corresponding scalar correlation is the function

$$\sigma_{XY} = tr\Gamma_{XY}.$$

3. The operator autocorrelation of the multidimensional second order stochastic process X on the locally compact Abelian group G is the trace class operator valued function

$$\Gamma_X = \Gamma_{XX}.$$

The corresponding *scalar autocorrelation* is the function

$$\sigma_X = tr\Gamma_X.$$

**Definition 56.** Let X be a multidimensional second order stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G.

1. X is stationary if the scalar autocorrelation  $\sigma_X$  is diagonally invariant - ie if

$$\sigma_X(y-x,z-x) = \sigma_X(y,z), \forall x, y, z \in G.$$

2. X is scalarly stationary if, for each  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ , the scalar process  $X_h$  is stationary, where

$$X_h x(\omega) = \langle X x(\omega) | h \rangle, x \in G, \omega \in \Omega.$$

3. X is operator stationary if the operator autocorrelation  $\Gamma_X$  is diagonally invariant - ie

$$\Gamma_X(y-x,z-x) = \sigma_X(y,z), \forall x, y, z \in G.$$

**Theorem 16.** (The spectral representation theorem for operator stationary multidimensional stochastic processes on locally compact Abelian groups)

Let X be a multidimensional second order stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G.

1. X is operator stationary if and only if the operator autocorrelation  $\Gamma_X$  has the representation

$$\Gamma_X(x,y) = \int_{\widehat{G}} \langle y - x, \widehat{x} \rangle d\mu_X(\widehat{x}),$$

where  $\mu_X$  is a positive, regular, countably additive, trace class operator valued Borel measure on the dual group  $\hat{G}$ .

2. X is operator stationary if and only if there exists a regular, countably additive, grammian orthogonally scattered Borel measure Z on the dual group  $\widehat{G}$  such that

$$Xx = \int_{\widehat{G}} \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle dZ(\widehat{x}).$$

The measures  $Z_X$  and  $\mu_X$  are related by

$$\left[\int_{U} dZ_X(\widehat{x}), \int_{U} dZ_X(\widehat{x})\right] = \int_{U} d\mu_X(\widehat{x}), U \in \mathcal{B}_{\widehat{G}}.$$

The measure theoretical terms used in the theorem will not be defined here and, as in the scalar case, no attempt will be made to justify the integral representations. The details may be found in [22].

The following proposition shows that operator and scalar stationarity are one and the same thing.

**Proposition 29.** [22] Let X be multidimensional second order stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group. Then

X is scalarly stationary  $\iff X$  is operator stationary.

As in the scalar case, we may extend the notion of stationarity by defining harmonisable processes.

**Definition 57.** Let X be a multidimensional second order stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G.

1. X is harmonisable if its scalar autocorrelation has the representation

$$\sigma_X(x,y) = \int_{\widehat{G} \times \widehat{G}} \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle \overline{\langle y, \widehat{y} \rangle} dB_X^{sc}(\widehat{x}, \widehat{y}),$$

where  $B_X^{sc}$  is a bounded bimeasure.

- 2. X is scalarly harmonisable if, for each  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ , the scalar process  $X_h$  is harmonisable.
- 3. X is operator harmonisable if its operator autocorrelation has the representation

$$\Gamma_X(x,y) = \int_{\widehat{G}\times\widehat{G}} \langle x,\widehat{x}\rangle \overline{\langle y,\widehat{y}\rangle} dB_X(\widehat{x},\widehat{y}),$$

where  $B_X$  is an operator bimeasure of bounded operator semivariation.

**Proposition 30.** [22] Let X be a multidimensional second order stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G. X is operator harmonisable if and only if there exists a regular, countably additive Borel measure  $Z_X$  of bounded operator semivariation on the dual group  $\hat{G}$  such that

$$Xx = \int_{\widehat{G}} \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle dZ_X(\widehat{x}).$$

Again, we do not attempt to define the terms used or to justify the integral representation.

### 3.4 Multidimensional second order generalised stochastic processes

The following definition differs from that of one dimensional generalised stochastic processes only in so far as the random variables are Hilbert space valued. As far as can be ascertained from the literature, the definition is original.

**Definition 58.** A multidimensional second order generalised stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G is an element of the Banach space

$$(S_0(G)\widehat{\otimes}\mathcal{X})' = \mathcal{L}(S_0(G),\mathcal{X}).$$

Given a multidimensional second order generalised stochastic process X' on a locally compact Abelian group G, each  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  defines a scalar process,  $X'_h$ , where

$$X'_h\phi(\omega) = \langle X'\phi(\omega)|h\rangle, \omega \in \Omega.$$

**Proposition 31.** Let X', Y' be two multidimensional second order generalised stochastic processes on a locally compact Abelian group G. Then the mapping  $\Gamma_{X'Y'}$ , defined by

$$\begin{split} [\phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \Gamma_{X'Y'}] &= [X'\phi, Y'\psi] \\ &= \int_{\Omega} X'\phi(\omega) \otimes Y'\psi(\omega)^* dP(\omega), \phi, \psi \in S_0(G), \end{split}$$

where the integral is interpreted weakly, extends to a bounded linear operator from  $S_0(G \times G)$  into  $\tau(\mathcal{H})$  and

$$\|\Gamma_{X'Y'}\| \le \|X'\|\|Y'\|.$$

Proof. Let

$$\sum_{i\in I}\phi_i\otimes\overline{\psi}_i\in S_0(G)\widehat{\otimes}S_0(G)$$

be a representation of  $F \in S_0(G \times G)$ . Using the Schwartz inequality, we have

$$\begin{split} \|[F, \Gamma_{X'Y'}]\|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} &\leq \sum_{i \in I} \|[\phi_i \otimes \overline{\psi}_i, \Gamma_{X'Y'}]\|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} \\ &= \sum_{i \in I} \|[X'\phi_i, Y'\overline{\psi}_i]\|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} \\ &\leq \sum_{i \in I} \|X'\phi_i\|\|Y'\overline{\psi}_i\| \\ &\leq \|X'\|\|Y'\|\sum_{i \in I} \|\phi_i\|\|\psi_i\| \end{split}$$

The norm estimate

#### $\|\Gamma_{X'Y'}\| \le \|X'\| \|Y'\|$

then follows by taking the infimum of the right hand side over all possible representations of F.

**Definition 59.** Let X', Y' be multidimensional second order stochastic processes on a locally compact Abelian group G.

$$\Gamma_{X'Y'} \in \mathcal{L}(S_0(G \times G), \tau(\mathcal{H}))$$

is the operator correlation of X' and Y'.

- 2.  $\Gamma_{X'X'}$ , written  $\Gamma_{X'}$ , is the operator autocorrelation of X'.
- 3. The scalar autocorrelation of X' is the kernel  $\sigma_{X'} \in S'_0(G \times G)$  defined by

$$\langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \sigma_{X'} \rangle = tr[\phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \Gamma_{X'}], \phi, \psi \in S_0(G).$$

**Proposition 32.** Let X' be a multidimensional second order generalised stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G. Then, given any ONB  $\{e_i\}_{i \in I}$  of  $\mathcal{H}$ ,

$$\sigma_{X'} = \sum_{i \in I} \sigma_{X'_{e_i}}.$$

*Proof.* Since  $\{e_i \otimes e_j^*\}_{i,j \in I}$  is an ONB for  $\mathcal{HS}(\mathcal{H})$ , we have

$$tr[\phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \Gamma_{X'}] = tr \sum_{i,j \in I} \langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \sigma_{X'_{e_i} X'_{e_j}} \rangle e_i \otimes e_j^*$$
$$= \sum_{i \in I} \langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \sigma_{X'_{e_i}} \rangle$$

and hence

$$\sigma_{X'} = \sum_{i \in I} \sigma_{X'_{e_i}}.$$

**Definition 60.** 1. Let G be a locally compact Abelian group. The Banach space  $\mathcal{L}(S_0(G \times G), \tau(\mathcal{H}))$ 

is the space of trace class operator valued kernels.

2. A trace class operator valued kernel  $\Gamma$  is *positive definite* if

$$[\phi \otimes \overline{\phi}, \Gamma] \in \tau(\mathcal{H})^+, \forall \phi \in S_0(G).$$

We note that the operator autocorrelation of any multidimensional second order

generalised stochastic process is positive-definite.

**Definition 61.** Let X' be a multidimensional second order generalised stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G. The completion of the normal pre-Hilbert  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module

$$\{X'\phi:\phi\in S_0(G)\}$$

in  $L^2_0(\Omega, \mathcal{H}, P)$  is the modular time domain of X'.

### 3.5 Reproducing kernel Hilbert $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -modules

To every trace class operator valued kernel  $\Gamma$  we can associate the operator

 $T_{\Gamma} \in \mathcal{L}(S_0(G), \mathcal{L}(S_0(G), \tau(\mathcal{H}))),$ 

where the identification between the operator and kernel is defined by

$$T_{\Gamma} \phi(\overline{\psi}) = [\phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \Gamma].$$

**Definition 62.** 1. The Banach  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module

$$\mathcal{L}(S_0(G), \tau(\mathcal{H}))$$

is the space of trace class operator valued distributions.

2. The Banach  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module

$$\mathcal{L}(W(G), \tau(\mathcal{H}))$$

is the space of trace class operator valued translation-bounded measures.

If  $\Gamma$  is positive definite, then the set

$$\{TT_{\Gamma}\phi:\phi\in S_0(G), T\in\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})\},\$$

equipped with the grammian

$$[ST_{\Gamma}\phi, TT_{\Gamma}\psi] = S[\phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \Gamma]T^{*},$$

is a normal pre-Hilbert  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module. We denote the Hilbert  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module obtained through completion by  $\mathcal{H}_{\Gamma}$  and call  $\Gamma$  the *reproducing kernel* of  $\mathcal{H}_{\Gamma}$ .

We have already noted that the operator covariance kernel  $\Gamma_{X'}$  of a multidimensional generalised stochastic process X' is positive definite. It is clear that, for  $\phi, \psi \in S_0(G)$ , we have

$$[X'\phi X'\psi] = [T_{\Gamma_{Y}}\phi, T_{\Gamma_{Y}}\psi]$$

and hence that the modular time domain  $\mathcal{H}_{X'}$  and the normal Hilbert  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module  $\mathcal{H}_{\Gamma_{X'}}$  are grammian unitarily isomorphic.

We denote, as before, the algebra obtained by the projective tensor product of the Wiener algebra with itself by  $W_0$  - ie

$$W_0(G \times G) = W(G)\widehat{\otimes}W(G),$$

**Definition 63**. The space of kernels

$$\mathcal{L}(W_0(G \times G), \tau(\mathcal{H}))$$

is the space of trace class operator valued translation-bounded bimeasures.

Given a positive definite trace class operator valued bimeasure B, we write the operator  $T_B$  simply as B and, for each  $\phi \in W(G)$ , we have that  $B\phi$  is a trace class operator valued translation-bounded measure. The grammian corresponding to a positive definite translation-bounded bimeasure is written

$$[B\phi, B\psi] = \int_{G \times G} \phi(x)\overline{\psi}(y)dB(x,y)$$
$$= \int_{G} \overline{\psi}(y)dB\phi(y)$$
$$= B\phi(\overline{\psi}).$$

If the positive definite trace class operator valued translation-bounded bimeasure B is generated by a trace class operator valued Radon measure  $\mu$  in the sense that for each  $\phi \in S_0(G)$ 

$$B\phi = \mu\phi,$$

then we have simply

$$[\mu\phi,\mu\psi] = \int_G \phi(x)\overline{\psi}(x)d\mu(x).$$

Definition 64. A trace class operator valued kernel

$$\Gamma \in \mathcal{L}(S_0(G \times G), \tau(\mathcal{H}))$$

is diagonally invariant if

$$[L_x \phi \otimes L_x \overline{\psi}, \Gamma] = [\phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \Gamma], \forall x \in G, \forall \phi, \psi \in S_0(G).$$

We note that where a positive definite operator valued kernel is diagonally invariant, for each  $x \in G$ , the translation operator  $L_x$ , defined for each  $\phi \in S_0(G)$  by

 $L_x T_\Gamma \phi = T_\Gamma L_x \phi,$ 

is grammian unitary in  $\mathcal{H}_{\Gamma}$  and hence that

$$x \mapsto L_x$$

is a grammian unitary representation of G in  $\mathcal{H}_{\Gamma}$ .

### 3.6 Operator valued Fourier transform and the Bochner theorem

Let

$$\sum_{i} \phi_i \otimes T_i \in S_0(G) \widehat{\otimes} \tau(\mathcal{H}).$$

Then, for  $h, k \in \mathcal{H}$ , we have

$$\langle \sum_{i} \phi_i \otimes T_i h | k \rangle \in S_0(G).$$

The Fourier transform  $\mathcal{F}_G \sum_i \phi_i \otimes T_i$  of  $\sum_i \phi_i \otimes T_i$  is the operator valued function on  $\widehat{G}$  defined for  $h, k \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $\widehat{x} \in \widehat{G}$  by

$$\langle \mathcal{F}_G \sum_i \phi_i \otimes T_i(\widehat{x})h | k \rangle = \int_G \langle \sum_i \phi_i \otimes T_i h | k \rangle(x) \overline{\langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle} dx, h, k \in \mathcal{H}.$$

It is clear that

$$\mathcal{F}_G \sum_i \phi_i \otimes T_i = \sum_i \widehat{\phi}_i \otimes T_i$$

and hence that  $\mathcal{F}_G$  is an isomorphism of the  $S_0(G)\widehat{\otimes}\tau(\mathcal{H})$  onto  $S_0(\widehat{G})\widehat{\otimes}\tau(\mathcal{H})$ , which extends to an isomorphism of the dual spaces via the relation

$$\widehat{\mu}(\phi) = \mu(\widehat{\phi}),$$

where  $\mu \in \mathcal{L}(S_0(G), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})), \phi \in S_0(\widehat{G}).$ 

The following theorem is an obvious consequence of the definition of the Fourier transform.

**Theorem 17.** (The Plancherel Theorem) The Fourier transform is a unitary Gelfand triple isomorphism of

$$(S_0(G)\widehat{\otimes}\tau(\mathcal{H}), L^2(G, \mathcal{HS}(\mathcal{H})), \mathcal{L}(S_0(G), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))))$$

onto

$$(S_0(\widehat{G})\widehat{\otimes}\tau(\mathcal{H}), L^2(\widehat{G}, \mathcal{HS}(\mathcal{H})), \mathcal{L}(S_0(\widehat{G}), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))))$$

**Definition 65.** Let  $\mu \in \mathcal{L}(S_0(\widehat{G}), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))$ .

1.  $\mu$  is *positive* if, for each positive function  $\phi \in S_0(G)$ ,

 $\mu(\phi) \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})^+,$ 

where  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})^+$  denotes the positive operators in  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ .

2.  $\mu$  is of positive type if

$$\mu(\phi \star \phi^{\star}) \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})^+, \forall \phi \in S_0(G).$$

**Proposition 33.** Let  $\mu \in \mathcal{L}(S_0(G), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))$  be positive. Then

- 1.  $\mu \in \mathcal{L}(W(G), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))$  ie every positive  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -valued distribution is an  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -valued translation-bounded measure.
- 2. The  $\mathcal{L}(S_0(G), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))$  and  $\mathcal{L}(W(G), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))$  norms of  $\mu$  are equivalent; both norms are equivalent to

 $\sup_{\|h\|\leq 1} \|\mu_h\|_{T(G)}$ .

3. If  $\mu \in \mathcal{L}(S_0(G), \tau(\mathcal{H}))$ , then  $\mu \in \mathcal{L}(W(G), \tau(\mathcal{H}))$ .

$$\langle \phi, \mu_{hk} \rangle = \langle \mu(\phi)h|k \rangle,$$

and, for h = k,

$$\mu_{hh} = \mu_h \in T^+(G).$$

For any positive  $\phi \in S_0(G)$ ,

$$(h,k) \mapsto \langle \phi, \mu_{hk} \rangle$$

is a sesquilinear form on  $\mathcal{H}$  and hence, for  $h, k \in \mathcal{H}$ ,

$$|\langle \phi, \mu_{hk} \rangle| \le \langle \phi, \mu_h \rangle^{1/2} \langle \phi, \mu_k \rangle^{1/2}.$$

Hence, given  $\phi \in S_0(G)$ , positive and compactly supported, we have, for  $x \in G$ ,

$$|\langle L_x\phi,\mu_{hk}\rangle| \leq \langle L_x\phi,\mu_h\rangle^{1/2} \langle L_x\phi,\mu_k\rangle^{1/2}$$

and hence, taking the sup of both sides over all  $x \in G$ , we have

 $\mu_{hk} \in T(G),$ 

with

$$\|\mu_{hk}\|_{T(G)} \leq \|\mu_h\|_{T(G)}^{1/2} \|\mu_k\|_{T(G)}^{1/2}.$$

Hence, for any  $\phi \in S_0(G)$  and  $h, k \in \mathcal{H}$  with  $||h||, ||k|| \leq 1$ , we have, using the positivity of each  $\mu_h$ , that

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle \mu(\phi)h|k\rangle| &= |\int_{G} \phi(x)d\mu_{hk}(x)| \\ &\leq ||\phi||_{W(G)}sup_{||h||\leq 1}||\mu_{h}||_{T(G)} \\ &= ||\phi||_{W(G)}sup_{||h||\leq 1}||\mu_{h}||_{S_{0}^{\prime}(G)} \\ &\leq ||\phi||_{W(G)}sup_{||h||\leq 1}sup_{||\psi||_{S_{0}(G)}\leq 1}|\langle \psi, \mu_{h}\rangle| \\ &= ||\phi||_{W(G)}sup_{||h||\leq 1}sup_{||\psi||_{S_{0}(G)}\leq 1}|\langle \mu(\psi)h|h\rangle| \\ &\leq ||\phi||_{W(G)}sup_{||h||\leq 1}sup_{||\psi||_{S_{0}(G)}\leq 1}|\langle \mu(\psi)h|h\rangle| \end{aligned}$$

 $\leq \|\phi\|_{W(G)}\|\mu\|,$ 

where  $\|\mu\|$  denotes the  $\mathcal{L}(S_0(G), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))$  norm. Hence, from the density of  $S_0(G)$  in W(G), we have that  $\mu$  extends to an  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -valued translation-bounded measure.

2. From the inequalities

 $\sup_{\|h\| \le 1} \|\mu_h\|_{T(G)} = \sup_{\|h\| \le 1} \sup_{\|\phi\|_{W(G)} \le 1} |\langle \mu(\phi)h|h\rangle|$  $\le \sup_{\|\phi\|_{W(G)} \le 1} \|\mu(\phi)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})}$  and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mu(\phi)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} &= sup_{\|h\|, \|k\| \le 1} |\langle \mu(\phi)h|k\rangle| \\ &= sup_{\|h\|, \|k\| \le 1} |\int_{G} \phi(x)d\mu_{hk}(x)| \\ &\le \|\phi\|_{W(G)} sup_{\|h\|, \|k\| \le 1} \|\mu_{hk}\|_{T(G)} \\ &= \|\phi\|_{W(G)} sup_{\|h\| \le 1} \|\mu_{h}\|_{T(G)}, \end{aligned}$$

we see that the  $\mathcal{L}(W(G), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))$  norm of  $\mu$  is equivalent to  $\sup_{\|h\|\leq 1} \|\mu_h\|_{T(G)}$ . To show the same is true for the  $\mathcal{L}(S_0(G), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))$  norm, we note from [12] that there exists a constant C such that any  $\phi \in S_0(G)$  can be written in the form

$$\phi = \sum_{0 \le l \le 3} i^l \phi_l,$$

where  $\phi_l$  is a non-negative function in  $S_0(G)$  and

$$\|\phi_l\|_{S_0(G)} \le C \|\phi\|_{S_0(G)}, 0 \le l \le 3.$$

Hence, for any  $\phi \in S_0(G)$ , we have, using the positivity of the operator  $\mu(\phi_l)$ for each l,

> $$\begin{split} \|\mu(\phi)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} &\leq \sum_{0 \leq l \leq 3} \|\mu(\phi_l)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} \\ &= \sum_{0 \leq l \leq 3} sup_{\|h\| \leq 1} |\langle \mu(\phi_l)h|h\rangle| \\ &= \sum_{0 \leq l \leq 3} sup_{\|h\| \leq 1} |\langle \phi_l, \mu_h\rangle| \end{split}$$
>  $\leq \sum_{0\leq l\leq 3}^{--} \|\phi_l\|_{S_0(G)} sup_{\|h\|\leq 1} \|\mu_h\|_{S_0'(G)}$  $\leq 4C \|\phi\|_{S_0(G)} \sup_{\|h\| \leq 1} \|\mu_h\|_{T(G)}$

The proof is completed by the inequality

 $\sup_{\|h\|\leq 1} \|\mu_h\|_{T(G)} = \sup_{\|h\|\leq 1} \|\mu_h\|_{S'_0(G)}$ 

- $= \sup_{\|h\| \le 1} \sup_{\|\phi\|_{S_0(G)} \le 1} |\langle \phi, \mu_h \rangle| \\ = \sup_{\|h\| \le 1} \sup_{\|\phi\|_{S_0(G)} \le 1} |\langle \mu(\phi)h|h \rangle| \\ \le \sup_{\|\phi\|_{S_0(G)} \le 1} \|\mu(\phi)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})}.$

3. Since  $S_0(G)$  is dense in W(G), given any  $\phi \in W(G)$ , we have that  $\mu(\phi)$  can be expressed as the limit in  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$  of a net  $\{\mu(\phi_\alpha) : \phi_\alpha \in S_0(G)\}$  of trace class operators and is hence compact. For any ONB  $\{e_i\}_{i \in I}$  of  $\mathcal{H}$ ,

$$tr\mu(\phi) = \sum_{i \in I} \langle \phi, \mu_{e_i} \rangle$$

and since the linear functional

$$\phi \mapsto tr\mu(\phi)$$

is an element of  $S'_0(G)$ , it is clear that

$$\sum_{i\in I}\mu_{e_i}\in S_0(G)'.$$

Since each  $\mu_{e_i}$  is positive, we have that

$$\sum_{i \in I} \mu_{e_i} \in T(G)$$

and

$$\sum_{i \in I} |\langle \mu(\phi) e_i | e_i \rangle| = \sum_{i \in I} |\int_G \phi(x) d\mu_{e_i}|$$

$$\leq ||\phi||_{W(G)} \sum_{i \in I} ||\mu_{e_i}||_{T(G)}$$

$$= ||\phi||_{W(G)} ||\sum_{i \in I} \mu_{e_i}||_{T(G)}$$

$$< \infty.$$

Hence,  $\mu(\phi)$  is a trace class operator and since we have from the first part of the theorem that  $\mu \in \mathcal{L}(W(G), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))$ , a routine application of the closed graph theorem then shows that

$$\mu \in \mathcal{L}(W(G), \tau(\mathcal{H})).$$

An easy consequence of the above proposition is an  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -valued Bochner's theo-

rem.

#### **Theorem 18.** (Bochner's theorem)

 $\mu \in \mathcal{L}(S_0(G), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))$  is of positive type if and only if  $\widehat{\mu}$  is a positive,  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -valued, translation-bounded measure.

*Proof.* The theorem follows from the previous proposition and the chain of equivalences:

 $\begin{array}{ll} \mu \text{ is of positive type} & \longleftrightarrow & \mu_h \text{ is of positive type}, \forall h \in \mathcal{H} \\ & \Longleftrightarrow & \widehat{\mu}_h \text{ is positive}, \forall h \in \mathcal{H} \\ & \longleftrightarrow & \widehat{\mu} \text{ is positive}. \end{array}$ 

**Proposition 34.** Let  $\mu$  be a positive  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -valued measure on a locally compact Abelian group G. If  $\mu$  is bounded - ie

$$\mu \in \mathcal{L}(C_0(G), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})),$$

then, for  $h, k \in \mathcal{H}$ , the measure  $\mu_{hk}$  is bounded and, furthermore,

 $\|\mu\| = \sup_{\|h\| \le 1} \|\mu_h\|_{M(G)},$ 

where  $\|\mu\|$  denotes the  $\mathcal{L}(C_0(G), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))$  norm of  $\mu$ .

*Proof.* If  $\mu$  is a positive, bounded,  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -valued measure on G, then, for each  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $\phi \in \mathcal{K}(G)$ , we have

$$|\int_{G} \phi(x)\mu_{h}(x)| = |\langle \mu(\phi)h|h\rangle|$$
  
$$\leq ||\phi||_{\infty}||\mu|||h||^{2}$$

Hence,  $\mu_h$  is bounded and

 $\sup_{\|h\|\leq 1} \|\mu_h\|_{M(G)} \leq \|\mu\|.$ 

Since  $\mu$  is positive,

$$((\phi,h),(\psi,k)) \mapsto \int_{G} \phi(x)\overline{\psi}(x)d\mu_{hk}(x)$$

is a sesquilinear form on  $S_0(G) \times \mathcal{H}$ . For any  $\phi \in \mathcal{K}(G)$ , pick  $\psi \in \mathcal{K}(G)$  identically equal to 1 on supp  $\phi$ . Then, from the Schwartz inequality,

$$\begin{aligned} |\int_{G} \phi(x) d\mu_{hk}(x)| &\leq (\int_{G} |\phi(x)|^{2} d\mu_{h}(x))^{1/2} (\int_{G} |\psi(x)|^{2} d\mu_{k}(x))^{1/2} \\ &\leq \|\phi\|_{\infty} \|\mu_{h}\|_{M(G)}^{1/2} \|\mu_{k}\|_{M(G)}^{1/2} \\ &\leq \|\phi\|_{\infty} \|\mu\| \|h\| \|k\|. \end{aligned}$$

Hence,  $\mu_{hk}$  is a bounded measure and

$$\|\mu_{hk}\|_{M(G)} \le \|\mu_h\|_{M(G)}^{1/2} \|\mu_k\|_{M(G)}^{1/2}.$$

The proof is completed by the inequality

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mu\| &= \sup\{\sup\{\int_{G} \phi(x) d\mu_{hk}(x)| : \|h\|, \|k\| \le 1\} : \phi \in \mathcal{K}(G), \|\phi\|_{\infty} \le 1\} \\ &\leq \sup\{\|\mu_{hk}\|_{M(G)} : \|h\|, \|k\| \le 1\} \\ &= \sup_{\|h\| \le 1} \|\mu_{h}\|_{M(G)}. \end{aligned}$$

The previous proposition facilitates a pointwise definition of the Fourier transform  $\hat{\mu}$  of a positive, bounded  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -valued measure  $\mu$ .

**Definition 66.** Let  $\mu$  be a positive, bounded  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -valued measure on a locally compact Abelian group G. The Fourier transform of  $\mu$  is the  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -valued function  $\hat{\mu}$  on  $\hat{G}$  defined by

$$\langle \widehat{\mu}(\widehat{x})h|k \rangle = \int_{G} \overline{\langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle} d\mu_{hk}(x), \forall h, k \in \mathcal{H}.$$

The following proposition is reminiscent of the scalar case.

**Proposition 35.** Let  $\mu$  be positive, bounded  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -valued measure. Then

1.  $\hat{\mu}$  is a bounded, weakly continuous,  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -valued function on  $\hat{G}$  and

 $sup_{\widehat{x}\in\widehat{G}}\|\widehat{\mu}(\widehat{x})\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} = \|\widehat{\mu}(\widehat{0})\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} = \|\mu\|,$ 

where  $\|\mu\|$  is the bounded  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -valued measure norm of  $\mu$ .

2. If  $\mu$  is a trace class operator valued measure, then  $\hat{\mu}$  is a trace class operator valued function on  $\hat{G}$  and

$$sup_{\widehat{x}\in\widehat{G}}\|\widehat{\mu}(\widehat{x})\|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} = \|\widehat{\mu}(\widehat{0})\|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} = tr \int_{G} d\mu(x) = \|\mu\|,$$

where  $\|\mu\|$  is the bounded  $\tau(\mathcal{H})$ -valued measure norm of  $\mu$ .

*Proof.* 1. For  $h, k \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $\hat{x} \in \hat{G}$ , we have

$$|\langle \widehat{\mu}(\widehat{x})h|k\rangle| \le \|\mu_{hk}\|$$

and hence  $\widehat{\mu}$  is an  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -valued function with

$$\sup_{\widehat{x}\in\widehat{G}}\|\widehat{\mu}(\widehat{x})\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} \leq \|\mu\|.$$

 $\widehat{\mu}(\widehat{0})$  is clearly a positive operator and hence

$$\begin{aligned} \|\widehat{\mu}(\widehat{0})\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} &= sup_{\|h\| \le 1} |\langle \widehat{\mu}(\widehat{0})h|h\rangle| \\ &= sup_{\|h\| \le 1} \int_{G} d\mu_{h}(x) \\ &= sup_{\|h\| \le 1} \|\mu_{h}\| \\ &= \|\mu\|. \end{aligned}$$

Since the Fourier transform of a bounded measure is continuous, it is clear that  $\widehat{\mu}$  is weakly continuous.

2. Since  $\mu$  is a trace class operator valued measure, the mapping

$$\phi \mapsto tr \int_G \phi(x) d\mu(x)$$

is a bounded measure on G. Given any ONB  $\{e_i\}_{i\in I}$  of  $\mathcal{H}$ , we have

$$tr \int_{G} \phi(x) d\mu(x) = \sum_{i \in I} \langle \int_{G} \phi(x) d\mu(x) e_{i} | e_{i} \rangle$$
$$= \sum_{i \in I} \int_{G} \phi(x) d\mu_{e_{i}}(x)$$

and hence that  $\sum_{i \in I} \mu_{e_i}$  is a bounded measure. Furthermore, since each  $\mu_{e_i}$  is a positive bounded measure, we have

$$\|\sum_{i\in I}\mu_{e_i}\|_{M(G)}=\sum_{i\in I}\|\mu_{e_i}\|_{M(G)}.$$

With  $\{e_i\}_{i\in I}$  as above and  $\widehat{x}\in \widehat{G}$ , we have, for each  $i\in I$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} |\widehat{\mu}(\widehat{x})e_i||^2 &= \|\int_G \overline{\langle x,\widehat{x}\rangle} d\mu(x)e_i\|^2 \\ &= sup_{\|h\|\leq 1} |\langle \int_G \overline{\langle x,\widehat{x}\rangle} d\mu(x)e_i|h\rangle|^2 \\ &= sup_{\|h\|\leq 1} |\int_G \overline{\langle x,\widehat{x}\rangle} d\mu_{e_ih}(x)|^2 \\ &\leq sup_{\|h\|\leq 1} \|\mu_{e_ih}\|_{M(G)}^2 \\ &\leq sup_{\|h\|\leq 1} \|\dot{\mu}_h\|_{M(G)} \|\mu_{e_i}\|_{M(G)} \\ &= \|\mu\|\|\mu_{e_i}\|_{M(G)}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence,

$$\sum_{i \in I} \|\widehat{\mu}(\widehat{x})e_i\|^2 \le \|\mu\| \sum_{i \in I} \|\mu_{e_i}\|_{M(G)}$$

and thus  $\widehat{\mu}(\widehat{x})$  is a Hilbert-Schmidt operator. Since  $\widehat{\mu}(\widehat{x})$  is compact, the estimate

$$\sum_{i \in I} |\langle \widehat{\mu}(\widehat{x}) e_i | e_i \rangle| = \sum_{i \in I} |\int_G \overline{\langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle} d\mu_{e_i}(x)|$$
  
$$\leq \sum_{i \in I} ||\mu_{e_i}||_{M(G)}$$

shows that it is a trace class operator. Since  $\mu$  is positive, we have

||

$$\begin{split} \int_{G} d\mu(x) \|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} &= tr \int_{G} d\mu(x) \\ &= \sum_{i \in I} \langle \int_{G} d\mu(x) e_{i} | e_{i} \rangle \\ &= \sum_{i \in I} \int_{G} d\mu_{e_{i}}(x) \\ &= \sum_{i \in I} \|\mu_{e_{i}}\|_{M(G)} \\ &= \|\sum_{i \in I} \mu_{e_{i}}\|_{M(G)}. \end{split}$$

Given any  $\phi \in C_0(G)$ , we have that

$$\begin{split} \| \int_{G} \phi(x) d\mu(x) \|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} &= \| [\mu \phi, \mu] \|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} \\ &\leq (tr \int_{G} |\phi(x)|^{2} d\mu(x))^{1/2} (tr \int_{G} d\mu(x))^{1/2} \\ &= (\sum_{i \in I} \int_{G} |\phi(x)|^{2} d\mu_{e_{i}}(x))^{1/2} \| \sum_{i \in I} \mu_{e_{i}} \|_{M(G)}^{1/2} \\ &\leq \| \phi \|_{\infty} \| \sum_{i \in I} \mu_{e_{i}} \|_{M(G)} \end{split}$$

and hence we have

$$\|\mu\| \leq \|\sum_{i\in I} \mu_{e_i}\|_{M(G)}.$$

Conversely,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\sum_{i \in I} \mu_{e_i}\|_{M(G)} &= sup_{\|\phi\|_{C_0(G)} \le 1} |\sum_{i \in I} \int_G \phi(x) d\mu_{e_i}(x) \\ &= sup_{\|\phi\|_{C_0(G)} \le 1} |tr \int_G \phi(x) d\mu(x)|. \end{aligned}$$

For any trace class operator T, we have

$$||T||_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} = \sup \sum_{i,j \in I} |\langle Te_i | f_j \rangle|,$$

where the sup is taken over all pairs  $(\{e_i\}_{i\in I}, \{f_j\}_{j\in I})$  of orthonormal bases of  $\mathcal{H}$  and hence it is clear that

$$|trT| \le ||T||_{\tau(\mathcal{H})}.$$

Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\sum_{i\in I} \mu_{e_i}\|_{M(G)} &\leq \sup_{\|\phi\|_{C_0(G)} \leq 1} \|\int_G \phi(x) d\mu(x)\|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} \\ &= \|\mu\|. \end{aligned}$$

We recall that every positive-definite trace class operator valued kernel  $\Gamma$  is the reproducing kernel of a Hilbert  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ -module  $\mathcal{H}_{\Gamma}$ . Where the reproducing kernel is a

bounded, positive-definite bimeasure B, we note that, for each  $\phi \in C_0(G)$ ,  $B\phi$  is a bounded,  $\tau(\mathcal{H})$ -valued measure and hence the Fourier transform  $\widehat{B\phi}$  defined by

$$\widehat{B\phi}(\widehat{x}) = \int_{G} \overline{\langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle} dB\phi(x), \widehat{x} \in \widehat{G},$$

is a  $\tau(\mathcal{H})$ -valued function on G.

**Proposition 36.** Let B be a bounded, positive-definite  $\tau(\mathcal{H})$ -valued bimeasure on the locally compact Abelian group G. Then, for each  $\hat{x} \in \hat{G}$ , the linear mapping defined by

$$B\phi \mapsto \int_{G} \overline{\langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle} dB\phi(x), \widehat{x} \in \widehat{G},$$

for each  $\phi \in S_0(G)$  extends to a bounded linear functional on  $\mathcal{H}_B$ .

*Proof.* If we denote the bounded  $\tau(\mathcal{H})$ -valued measure norm of  $B\phi$  by  $||B\phi||$  and the bounded  $\tau(\mathcal{H})$ -valued bimeasure norm of B by ||B||, then we have

$$\begin{split} \| \int_{G} \overline{\langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle} dB\phi(x) \|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} &\leq \| B\phi \| \\ &= sup_{\|\psi\|_{C_{0}(G)} \leq 1} \| \int_{G} \overline{\psi}(x) dB\phi(x) \|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} \\ &= sup_{\|\psi\|_{C_{0}(G)} \leq 1} \| [B\phi, B\psi] \|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} \\ &\leq sup_{\|\psi\|_{C_{0}(G) \leq 1}} \| B\psi \|_{\mathcal{H}_{B}} \| B\phi \|_{\mathcal{H}_{B}} \\ &\leq \| B \| \| B\phi \|_{\mathcal{H}_{B}}. \end{split}$$

# 3.7 Stationary multidimensional second order generalised stochastic processes

**Definition 67.** Let X' be a multidimensional second order generalised stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G.

- 1. X' is stationary if the scalar autocorrelation  $\sigma_{X'}$  is diagonally invariant.
- 2. X' is scalarly stationary if, for each  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ , the scalar process  $X'_h$  is stationary.
- 3. X' is operator stationary if the operator autocorrelation  $\Gamma_{X'}$  is diagonally invariant ie if

 $[L_x \phi \otimes L_x \overline{\psi}, \Gamma_{X'}] = [\phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \Gamma_{X'}], \forall x \in G, \forall \phi, \psi \in S_0(G).$ 

**Definition 68.** Let X' be a multidimensional second order generalised stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G.

1. X' is grammian orthogonally scattered if

$$[X'\phi, X'\psi] = 0,$$

for any disjointly supported pair of functions  $\phi, \psi \in S_0(G)$ .

2. X' is scalarly orthogonally scattered if, for each  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ , the scalar generalised stochastic process  $X'_h$  is orthogonally scattered.

**Proposition 37.** Let X' be a multidimensional second order generalised stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G. Then X' is grammian orthogonally scattered if and only if X' is scalarly orthogonally scattered.

*Proof.* Let X' be grammian orthogonally scattered. Then for each  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  and disjointly supported pair of functions  $\phi, \psi \in S_0(G)$ ,

$$\langle X'_h \phi | X'_h \psi \rangle = tr[\phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \Gamma_{X'}]h \otimes h^*$$
  
= 0

and hence X' is scalarly orthogonally scattered.

Conversely, any trace class operator T can be expressed as a sum

$$T = (T + T^{\star})/2 + i(T - T^{\star})/2i$$

of two self-adjoint trace class operators and it is hence easy to show that

$$\langle Th|h\rangle = 0, \forall h \in \mathcal{H} \Rightarrow T = 0.$$

Consequently, if X' is scalarly orthogonally scattered, then for any disjointly supported pair of functions  $\phi, \psi \in S_0(G)$ , we have that

 $[\phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \Gamma_{X'}] = 0$ 

and hence that X' is grammian orthogonally scattered.

**Theorem 19.** (The spectral representation theorem for operator stationary multidimensional generalised stochastic processes)

Let X' be a multidimensional second order generalised stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G.

1. X' is operator stationary if and only if its operator autocorrelation can be represented in the form

$$[\phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \Gamma_{X'}] = \int_{\widehat{G}} \widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x}) \overline{\widehat{\psi}}(\widehat{x}) d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}), \phi, \psi \in S_0(G), \qquad (3.7.1)$$

where  $\mu_{X'}$  is a positive  $\tau(\mathcal{H})$ -valued translation-bounded measure.

- 2. X' is operator stationary if and only if the spectral process  $\widehat{X'}$  is a grammian orthogonally scattered translation-bounded measure.
- 3. If X' is operator stationary, then the modular time domain  $\mathcal{H}_{X'}$  is grammian unitarily isomorphic to the modular spectral domain  $L^2(G, \mu_{X'})$ .
- *Proof.* 1. It is clear that  $\Gamma_{X'}$  is diagonally invariant if it can be represented as in equation 3.7.1.

Conversely, the diagonal invariance of  $\Gamma_{X'}$  implies that, for  $h, k \in \mathcal{H}$ , there exists  $\mu_{hk} \in S'_0(G)$  such that for  $\phi, \psi \in S_0(G)$ ,

$$\langle [\phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \Gamma_{X'}]h | k 
angle = \langle \phi \star \psi^{\star}, \mu_{hk} 
angle$$

Given  $\varphi \in S_0(G)$ , define  $\Gamma_{X'}(\varphi)$ , a linear operator on  $\mathcal{H}$ , according to

$$\langle \tilde{\Gamma}_{X'}(\varphi)h|k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = \sum_{i \in I} \langle \phi_i \star \psi_i^{\star}, \mu_{hk} \rangle, \text{ for } h, k \in \mathcal{H},$$

where  $\sum_{i \in I} \phi_i \star \psi_i^{\star}$  is an admissible convolution tensor product representation of  $\varphi$  (see proposition 10). For  $||h||, ||k|| \leq 1$ , denoting the  $\mathcal{L}(S_0(G \times G), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))$ norm of  $\Gamma_{X'}$  by  $||\Gamma_{X'}||$ , we have

$$|\langle \tilde{\Gamma}_{X'}(\varphi)h|k\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}| \leq \|\Gamma_{X'}\| \sum_{i \in I} \|\phi\|_{S_0(G)} \|\psi\|_{S_0(G)},$$

and hence, taking the inf of the right hand side over all admissible representations of  $\varphi$ , we have

$$\|\Gamma_{X'}(\varphi)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} \leq \|\Gamma_{X'}\|\|\varphi\|_{S_0(G)}.$$

This yields  $\tilde{\Gamma}_{X'}(\varphi) \in \mathcal{L}(S_0(G), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))$  and since  $\tilde{\Gamma}_{X'}(\varphi) \in \tau(\mathcal{H})$  for each  $\varphi$  in  $S_0(G)$ , a routine application of the closed graph theorem gives

$$\Gamma_{X'}(\varphi) \in \mathcal{L}(S_0(G), \tau(\mathcal{H})).$$

For any  $\phi \in S_0(G)$ ,

$$\Gamma_{X'}(\phi \star \phi^{\star}) = [\phi \otimes \overline{\phi}, \Gamma_{X'}],$$

and, since  $\Gamma_{X'}$  is a positive definite kernel,  $\Gamma_{X'}$  is of positive type, and the representation 3.7.1 follows from the Bochner theorem and the final part of proposition 33.

2. Let X' be operator stationary and  $\mu_{X'}$  be the associated trace class operator valued spectral measure. Then, for any pair of functions  $\phi, \psi \in S_0(\widehat{G})$  with disjoint support,

$$[\widehat{X'}\phi, \widehat{X'}\psi] = \int_{\widehat{G}} \phi(\widehat{x})\overline{\psi}(\widehat{x})d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x})$$
  
= 0

which shows that  $\widehat{X'}$  is grammian orthogonally-scattered. For any  $\phi \in S_0(\widehat{G})$ , we have from the first part of the theorem,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\widehat{X'}\phi\|_{\mathcal{X}} &= \sqrt{\|[\widehat{X'}\phi,\widehat{X'}\phi]\|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})}} \\ &= \sqrt{\|\int_{\widehat{G}} |\phi(\widehat{x})|^2 d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x})\|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})}} \\ &\leq \|\phi\|_{W(\widehat{G})} \|\mu_{X'}\|_{\mathcal{L}(W(\widehat{G}),\tau(\mathcal{H}))}^{1/2}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence, since  $S_0(\widehat{G})$  is dense in  $W(\widehat{G})$ ,  $\widehat{X'}$  extends to a  $\mathcal{X}$ -valued translationbounded measure on  $\widehat{G}$ .

Conversely, if  $\widehat{X'}$  is a grammian orthogonally scattered translation-bounded measure, then, for each  $h, k \in \mathcal{H}$ , the translation-bounded bimeasure

$$B_{X'_{k}X'_{k}}:\phi\otimes\overline{\psi}\mapsto\langle[\widehat{X'}\phi,\widehat{X'}\psi]h|k\rangle$$

is supported in the diagonal subgroup  $\Delta_{\widehat{G}}$  and hence the correlation kernel  $\sigma_{X'_h X'_k}$  is diagonally invariant in each case. Thus,  $\Gamma_{X'}$  is diagonally-invariant and X' is operator stationary.

3. The final part of the theorem follows from the representation 3.7.1.

**Proposition 38.** Let X' be a multidimensional second order generalised stochastic process on the locally compact Abelian group G. Then

X' is scalarly stationary  $\iff \widehat{X'}$  is scalarly orthogonally scattered.

*Proof.* The statement is an easy consequence of the fact that, for each  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ ,

$$\widehat{X'}_h = \widehat{X'_h}.$$

We can now characterise scalarly stationary processes.

**Proposition 39.** Let X' be a multidimensional second order generalised stochastic process on the locally compact Abelian group G. Then

X' is operator stationary  $\iff X'$  is scalarly stationary.

*Proof.* The proposition is a simple consequence of proposition 37 and proposition 38.  $\hfill \square$ 

It is clear that operator stationarity implies stationarity and hence, from the previous proposition, that scalar stationarity implies stationarity. The converse is, however, untrue; for a counterexample, see example IV.6 of [22].

### 3.8 Multidimensional stationary stochastic processes and multidimensional stationary generalised stochastic processes

Let X be a multidimensional second order stochastic process on a locally compact group G which is bounded in the sense that

$$\sup_{x\in G} \|Xx\|_{\mathcal{X}} < \infty.$$

If, for each  $\phi \in S_0(G)$ , we let

$$X\phi = \int_G Xx\phi(x)dx,$$

where the integral is defined weakly, we have

$$\|X\phi\|_{\mathcal{X}} \leq \sup_{x \in G} \|Xx\|_{\mathcal{X}} \|\phi\|_{S_0(G)},$$

and hence that X defines a multidimensional generalised stochastic process.

A stationary stochastic process X is with spectral measure  $\mu_X$  is certainly bounded and

$$\begin{split} [X\phi, X\psi] &= \int_{G\times G} [Xx, Xy]\phi(x)\overline{\psi}(y)dxdy\\ &= [\phi\otimes\overline{\psi}, \Gamma_X]\\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}} \widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x})\overline{\widehat{\psi}}(\widehat{x})d\mu_X(\widehat{x}). \end{split}$$

Hence the generalised stochastic process generated by a stationary process is stationary and has the same spectral measure as the original process. The following proposition describes a converse.

**Proposition 40.** Let X' be a stationary multidimensional second order generalised stochastic process X' on a locally compact Abelian group G. If the spectral measure  $\mu_{X'}$  of X' is bounded, ie

$$\mu_{X'} \in \mathcal{L}(C_0(G), \tau(\mathcal{H})),$$

then the spectral process  $\widehat{X'}$  is a bounded stochastic measure and X' may be identified with a stationary multidimensional second order stochastic process on G.

*Proof.* For any  $\phi \in S_0(\widehat{G})$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\widehat{X}'\phi||_{\mathcal{X}}^2 &= tr[\widehat{X}'\phi,\widehat{X}'\phi] \\ &= tr\int_{\widehat{G}} |\phi(\widehat{x})|^2 d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}) \\ &= \sum_{i\in I} \int_{\widehat{G}} |\phi(\widehat{x})|^2 d\mu_{X'_{e_i}}(\widehat{x}) \\ &\leq \|\phi\|_{\infty}^2 \|\sum_{i\in I} \mu_{X'_{e_i}}\|_{M(\widehat{G})} \end{aligned}$$

and hence, from the density of  $S_0(\widehat{G})$  in  $C_0(\widehat{G})$ ,  $\widehat{X'}$  extends to a bounded measure on  $\widehat{G}$ .

Using proposition 35 and the Schwartz inequality, we have

$$\begin{split} \| \int_{\widehat{G}} \widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x}) \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}) \|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} &\leq \| \int_{\widehat{G}} |\widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x})|^2 d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}) \|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})}^{1/2} \| \int_{G} d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}) \|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})}^{1/2} \\ &= \| X' \phi \|_{\mathcal{H}_{X'}} \| \mu_{X'} \| \end{split}$$

Hence, from the Riesz representation theorem, the function X, defined by

$$[X'\phi, Xx] = \int_{\widehat{G}} \widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x}) \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}), \phi \in S_0(G),$$

is a  $\mathcal{H}_{X'}$ -valued stochastic process on G.

We show X generates X'. Given  $\phi, \psi \in S_0(G)$ ,

$$\begin{split} [X'\phi, \int_{G} Xx\psi(x)dx] &= \int_{G} [X'\phi, Xx]\overline{\psi}(x)dx \\ &= \int_{G} \int_{\widehat{G}} \widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x}) \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x})\overline{\psi}(x)dx \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}} \widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x}) \int_{G} \overline{\psi}(x) \langle x, \widehat{x} \rangle dx d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}) \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}} \widehat{\phi}(\widehat{x})\overline{\widehat{\psi}}(\widehat{x}) d\mu_{X'}(\widehat{x}) \\ &= [X'\phi, X'\psi], \end{split}$$

as required.

# 3.9 Harmonisable multidimensional second order generalised stochastic processes

**Definition 69.** Let X' be a multidimensional second order generalised stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G.

- 1. X' is harmonisable if  $\widehat{X'}$  is a translation-bounded measure.
- 2. X' is scalarly harmonisable if, for each  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ , the scalar process  $X'_h$  is harmonisable.
- 3. X' is operator harmonisable if the spectral process  $\widehat{X'}$  is a translation-bounded  $\mathcal{X}$ -valued measure.

**Proposition 41.** Let X' be a multidimensional second order generalised stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G. Then X' is operator harmonisable if and only if the operator autocorrelation  $\Gamma_{X'}$  has the representation

$$[\widehat{\phi} \otimes \overline{\widehat{\psi}}, \Gamma_{X'}] = [\phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, B_{X'}],$$

where  $B_{X'}$  is a  $\tau(\mathcal{H})$ -valued translation-bounded bimeasure, ie

$$B_{X'} \in \mathcal{L}(W(\widehat{G}) \widehat{\otimes} W(\widehat{G}), \tau(\mathcal{H})).$$

87

$$\begin{aligned} \|[\phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \Gamma_{\widehat{X'}}]\|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} &= \|[\widehat{X'}\phi, \widehat{X'}\psi]\|_{\tau(\mathcal{H})} \\ &\leq \|\widehat{X'}\psi\|\|\widehat{X'}\phi\| \\ &\leq \|\widehat{X'}\|^2\|\psi\|_{W(\widehat{G})}\|\phi\|_{W(\widehat{G})}\end{aligned}$$

for any  $\phi, \psi \in S_0(\widehat{G})$  and the density of  $S_0(\widehat{G} \times \widehat{G})$  in  $W(\widehat{G}) \otimes W(\widehat{G})$  show that  $\Gamma_{\widehat{X}'}$  is a bounded  $\tau(\mathcal{H})$ -valued bimeasure.

Conversely, let  $\Gamma_{\widehat{X}'}$  be a  $\tau(\mathcal{H})$ -valued translation-bounded bimeasure. It is clear that the kernel  $tr\Gamma_{\widehat{X}'}$  in  $S'_0(\widehat{G} \times \widehat{G})$  defined by

$$\langle \phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, tr \Gamma_{\widehat{X}'} \rangle = tr[\phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, \Gamma_{\widehat{X}'}]$$

is a translation-bounded bimeasure. Hence, given any ONB  $\{e_i\}_{i\in I}$ , we have that  $\sum_{i\in I} \Gamma_{\widehat{X'}_{e_i}}$  is a translation-bounded bimeasure which is independent of the ONB. The estimate

$$\begin{split} \|\widehat{X}'\phi\|^2 &= tr[\phi \otimes \overline{\phi}, \Gamma_{\widehat{X}'}] \\ &= \sum_{i \in I} \langle \phi \otimes \overline{\phi}, \Gamma_{\widehat{X}'_{e_i}} \rangle \\ &\leq \|\phi\|^2_{W(\widehat{G})} \|\sum_{i \in I} \Gamma_{\widehat{X}'_{e_i}} \|_{TBA} \end{split}$$

for any  $\phi \in S_0(\widehat{G})$  and the density of  $S_0(\widehat{G})$  in  $W(\widehat{G})$  show that  $\widehat{X'}$  extends to a translation-bounded measure.

### 3.10 Harmonisable multidimensional stochastic processes and harmonisable multidimensional generalised stochastic processes

Let X be an operator harmonisable multidimensional second order stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G. Since

$$\begin{aligned} \sup_{x \in G} \|Xx\|^2 &= \sup_{x \in G} \sigma_X(x, x) \\ &\leq \|B_X^{sc}\|_{BM}, \end{aligned}$$

S

where  $B_X^{sc}$  is the scalar covariance bimeasure of X, X is bounded and hence generates a generalised stochastic process via the weak integral

$$X'\phi = \int_G Xx\phi(x)dx.$$

It is easy to show that X' is operator harmonisable with operator covariance bimeasure

 $B_X$ . We show now that the converse is true.

**Proposition 42.** Let X' be an operator harmonisable multidimensional second order generalised stochastic process on a locally compact Abelian group G. If the operator covariance bimeasure  $B_{X'}$  of X' is bounded, then  $\widehat{X'}$  is a bounded measure and X' may be identified with a stochastic process on G.

*Proof.* Let X' and  $B_{X'}$  be as above. Then, for any  $\phi \in S_0(G)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\widehat{X'}\phi\|^2 &= tr[\phi \otimes \overline{\phi}, B_{X'}] \\ &\leq \|\phi\|_{\infty}^2 \|B_{X'}^{sc}\|_{BM} \end{aligned}$$

and hence, from the density of  $S_0(\widehat{G})$  in  $C_0(\widehat{G})$ ,  $\widehat{X'}$  extends to a bounded measure.

It is then clear from proposition 36 and the Riesz representation theorem that the equation

$$[X'\widehat{\phi}, Xx] = \int_{\widehat{G}\times\widehat{G}} \phi(\widehat{x}) \overline{\langle x, \widehat{y} \rangle} dB_{X'}(\widehat{x}, \widehat{y})$$

defines a stochastic process X on G with range in  $\mathcal{H}_{X'}$ . We show now that X generates X'. For  $\widehat{\phi}, \widehat{\psi} \in S_0(G)$ ,

$$\begin{split} [X'\widehat{\phi}, \int_{G} Xx\widehat{\psi}(x)dx] &= \int_{G} [X'\widehat{\phi}, Xx]\overline{\widehat{\psi}}(x)dx \\ &= \int_{G} \int_{\widehat{G}\times\widehat{G}} \phi(\widehat{x})\overline{\langle x, \widehat{y} \rangle} dB_{X'}(\widehat{x}, \widehat{y})\overline{\widehat{\psi}}(x)dx \\ &= \int_{G} \int_{\widehat{G}} \overline{\langle x, \widehat{y} \rangle} dB_{X'}(\phi)(\widehat{y})\overline{\widehat{\psi}}(x)dx \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}} \int_{G} \overline{\widehat{\psi}}(x)\overline{\langle x, \widehat{y} \rangle} dx \ dB_{X'}(\phi)(\widehat{y}) \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}} \overline{\psi}(\widehat{y}) dB_{X'}(\phi)(\widehat{y}) \\ &= [\phi \otimes \overline{\psi}, B_{X'}] \\ &= [X'\widehat{\phi}, X'\widehat{\psi}] \end{split}$$

and hence

$$\int_G X x \widehat{\psi}(x) dx = X' \widehat{\psi},$$

-

as required.

## Bibliography

- Loren Argabright, Jesus Gil de Lamadrid, Fourier Analysis of Unbounded Measures on Locally Compact Abelian Groups, Memoirs of the American Mathematical Society, No. 145, American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, 1974.
- [2] Christian Berg, Gunnar Forst, Potential Theory on Locally Compact Abelian Groups, Springer Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-NewYork, 1975.
- [3] N. Bourbaki, Elements de Mathematique, XIII, Les Strucures Fondamentales de l'Analyse, Livre VI, Integration, Hermann and Cie, Paris, 1952.
- [4] Francois Bruhat, Distributions sur un Group localement Compact at Applications a l'Etude des Representations des groupes p-adiques, Bull. Soc. Math. de France, 89(1961), pp 43-75.
- [5] A. Cheremensky, V. Fomin, Operator Approach to Linear Control Systems, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht-Boston-London, 1996.
- [6] Michael Cowling, Some Applications of Grothendieck's Theory of Toplological Tensor Products in Harmonic Analysis, Math. Ann., 232 (1978), pp 273 - 285.

- [7] Thomas Dobler, Wienertypraeume auf Lokalkompakten Gruppen, Diplomarbeit, Institut fuer Mathematik der Universitaet Wien, 1989.
- [8] Hans G. Feichtinger, A Characterisation of Wiener's Algebra on Locally Compact Abelian Groups, ARCH. MATH., XXIX (1977), pp. 136 - 140.
- Hans G. Feichtinger, Banach Convolution Algebras of Wiener Type, Colloquia Mathematica Societas Janos Bolyai, 35(1980), pp 509 - 524.
- [10] Hans G. Feichtinger, Un Espace de Banach de Distributions Temperee sur les Groups Localement Compacts Abeliens, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Ser. A, 290(1980), pp 791 - 794.
- [11] Hans G. Feichtinger, A Characterisation of Minimal Homogeneous Banach Spaces, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 81 (1981) pp 55 - 61.
- [12] Hans G. Feichtinger On a New Segal Algebra Mh Math., 92(1981), pp 269 289.
- [13] Hans G. Feichtinger, K. H. Groechenig, Banach Spaces Related to Integrable Group Representations and Their Atomic Decompositions, I, Journal of Functional Analysis, 86(1989), pp 301 - 340.
- [14] Hans G. Feichtiger, Werner Kozek, Quantisation of TF Lattice-Invariant Operators on Elemtary LCA Groups in Gabor Analysis and Algorithms, Theory and Applications, eds Hans G. Feichtinger, Thomas Strohmer, Birkhuser, Boston-Basel-London, 1998.
- [15] J. M. G. Fell, R. S. Doran, Representations of \*-Algebras, Locally Compact Groups and Banach \*-Algebraic Bundles, academic Press, Boston, 1988.

- [16] Gerald B. Folland, A Course in Abstract Harmonic Analysis, CRC Press, BocaRaton-Ann Arbor-London-Tokyo.
- [17] G. I. Gaudry Quasimeasures and Operators Commuting with Convolution, Pacific Journal of Mathematics, Vol. 18, No.3, 1966, pp. 461 - 476.
- [18] I.M. Gelfand, N Ya. Vilenkin, Generalised Functions, Vol 4, Applications of Harmonic Analysis, Academic Press, New York-London, 1964.
- [19] Colin C. Graham, Bertram M. Schreiber, Bimeasure Algebras on Locally Compact Abelian Groups, Pacific Journal of Mathematics, Vol. 115 (1984), No. 1, pp. 91 -126.
- [20] Wolgang Hoermann, Generalised Stochastic Processes and Wigner Distribution, PhD Thesis, Department of Mathematics, University of Vienna, 1989.
- [21] Finbarr Holland, Harmonic Analysis on Amalgams of L<sup>p</sup> and l<sup>q</sup>, J. London Math.
   Soc. (2), 10(1975), pp 295 305.
- [22] Yuichiro Kakihara, Multidimensional Second Order Stochastic Processes, World Scientific, Singapore-New Jersey-London-Hong Kong, 1996.
- [23] Kiyosi Ito Stationary random Distributions, Memoirs of the College of Science, University of Kyoto, Series A, Vol. XXVIII, Mathematics No. 3, 1953.
- [24] A.J.E.M. Janssen Application of the Wigner Distribution to Harmonic Analysis of Generalised Stochastic Processes, Mathematical Centre Tracts 114, Mathematisch Centrum, Amsterdam, 1979.

- [25] Reuvan Meidan, Reproducing-Kernel Hilbert Spaces of Distributions and Generalised Stochastic Processes, SIAM J. MATH. ANAL., Vol. 10, No. 1, January 1979. pp 62 - 70.
- [26] Hannu Niemi, Stationary Vector Measures and Positive Definite Translation Invariant Bimeasures, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. A.I. Math., 4(1978/79), pp 209 - 226.
- [27] Hannu Niemi, Stochastic Processes as Fourier Transforms of Stochastic Measures, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. A.I. Math., 591(1975), pp 1 - 47.
- [28] M. Scott Osborne, On the Schwartz-Bruhat Space and the Paley-Wiener Theorem for Locally Compact Abelian Groups, Journal of Functional Analysis, 19(1975), pp 40 - 49.
- [29] M. M. Rao, Harmonisable Processes: Structure Theory, L'Enseign Math. 28 (1982), pp 295 351.
- [30] Hans Reiter, Jan D.Stegeman, Classical Harmonic Analysis and Locally Compact Groups, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 2000.
- [31] Walter Rudin, Fourier Analysis on Groups, Interscience Publishers, New York-London, 1962.
- [32] L. Schwartz Sous-espaces Hilbertiens d'Espaces Vectoriels Topologiques et Noyaux Associes Jour. Anal. Math. 13 (1964) pp. 115 - 256.
- [33] L. Schwartz Applications of Distributions to the Theory of Elementary Particles in Quantum Mechanics, Gordon and Breach, New York, 1968.
- [34] L. Schwartz, Theorie des distributions, Hermann, Paris, 1973.

- [35] Erik G.F. Thomas The Theorem of Bochner-Schwartz-Godemont for Generalised Gelfand Pairs, Functional Analysis: Surveys and Recent Results III, K.D. Bierstedt and B. Fuchssteiner (eds.), Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.(North-Holland), 1984.
- [36] A. Wawrzynczyk On Tempered Distributions and Bochner-Schwartz Theorem on Arbitrary Locally Compact Abelian Groups, Colloq. Math. 19(1968), pp 305 - 318
   MR 37 #3355.
- [37] P. Wojtaszczyk Banach Spaces for Analysts, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge-New York-Melbourne.